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Friday, July 3, 2015
--- On commencing at 9:50 a.m.
OSHAWA PUC NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 3, resumed

David Savage, Previously Affirmed


Ivano Labricciosa, Previously Affirmed


David Martin, Previously Affirmed


MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  Today is the last scheduled day for the oral hearing for this proceeding, and even though on the hearing plan it said we were to have procedural matters, they happened, I think, without the Board present.  Perhaps someone can update the Panel regarding the discussions this morning.  Mr. Mondrow?

Preliminary Matters:

MR. MONDROW:  Perhaps I can start, thank you, Madam Chair.


So first of all, I think this all stems from the undertakings provided by the witnesses and our responses to those undertakings.  There were 16 given as of the close of yesterday.  Two were responded to yesterday morning -- that is 1.2 and 1.4.


We addressed another two last night.  Undertaking J1.3 asked for a better description, a written description of the metrics being proposed by Oshawa.  We circulated an informal version of that last night, subject only to formatting with a proper undertaking sheet, which will be filed shortly on RESS, but the parties did get that, albeit late last night, at 10:00 or 11:00 p.m.


Similarly, we circulated what I referred to yesterday as the PEG commentary, which is pursuant to transcript Undertaking J2.10 last night, again fairly late, and again, it will be filed formally on RESS this morning.


The other responses are in process, and three of them in particular may take a little bit of time, because the Oshawa folks will need to discuss them and, indeed, will probably want me to participate in those discussions, and so those will have to take place, obviously, once the cross-examinations are completed if I am to participate in the substance of those discussions.


They are Undertakings J2.7, which was the scenario asked by Board Staff of the witnesses if the Board disallows any annual adjustments what would your load forecast be.


J2.4, which was an undertaking, I think, essentially to comment on the idea of a mid-term -- one mid-term adjustment in lieu of the annual adjustments.  And J2.2, which Energy Probe, through Mr. Aiken, asked the witnesses to comment on the three structural mechanisms embedded in the Horizon settlement proposal in respect of their custom IR, that being -- those being an earnings sharing mechanism, what I call a ring fencing of capital, and there is an efficiency adjustment mechanism embedded in that settlement.


Those three responses, while certainly doable, will take a little thought.  Indeed, they may -- and I don't know for sure, because I haven't had this full discussion with the Oshawa folks, but they may entail just thinking about a number of moving pieces.


Our proposal is to file a written document that attempts to respond to what I referred to collectively then as the scenarios put to us essentially yesterday, and try to do so in a comprehensive and complete and clear fashion, being as clear as -- well, being crystal clear about whether any of that leaves Oshawa to propose any modifications to its prayer for relief as filed, and I don't know if that is going to be the case, and I am not suggesting that is going to be the case, but there are a number of moving pieces, and I know they have to think those through.


In respect of scheduling -- and in any event, to address those scenarios from Oshawa's specific circumstances and respond to them in the context of the application as it has been framed and brought before you, even assuming no changes to that application or the prayer for relief resulting from those response or considering those requests.


In respect of scheduling, we will be able to respond with a full written answer to those, as well as all the other undertakings, at least those provided so far, by Wednesday of next week.  That is currently the day scheduled, I believe, for my oral argument in-chief.


We will be very clear in that response, and I would ask the Panel to indulge me, in the sense that I do not want to be in a position to have to make my final argument while the evidentiary record is still in flux.  So I would ask not to have to argue orally on the same day that those responses are filed.


Now, if nothing further happens, we did discuss our argument in-chief coming in probably in writing at that point the following, I think it was the 14th, which is the Tuesday.  I know Staff was talking about filing then their argument on the 16th -- which is the Thursday, I understand --

MS. LEA:  I think the 17th was our preferred date.


MR. MONDROW:  The 17th?  It was the Friday, and there are constraints thereafter, I believe, all of which is fine from my perspective.  That would obviously entail resetting the date for the intervenors to file their arguments and for us to file our reply, but I think that is tractable.


The only unknown -- and I'm not suggesting this is going to be the case, but I have to acknowledge the possibility, depending on what is said in the response to these new scenarios -- the parties may wish some clarification of our undertaking -- transcript undertaking response.


If that were the case, we would have to deal with that, and that might impact the written argument schedule I have just outlined, and I am not sure precisely at the moment how we would deal with that.


To be clear, we are not proposing and do not anticipate that the undertaking responses that we will file will or should lead to an opening up of the record to fully explore and model three different scenarios.  That is not our intention, but we have been asked to respond to them, and we intend to do so.


I am hoping it will be a response that does not entail a whole new process, but I do acknowledge that, given that I don't know what it is going to be yet, and certainly the parties haven't seen it, there is some concern that there may be a requirement or a desire at least to ask some questions of clarification on that, and certainly if that arose, the Panel would have to consider that and provide further direction.


So I think that is as far as I can take it at the moment.


MS. DUFF:  Ms. Lea?


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Yes, what Mr. Mondrow has summarized is my understanding as well.  A couple of additional things.  I think that the intervenors were proposing to file their arguments, should Board Staff file on the 17th, which I think we have to, on July the 24th.


So Mr. Mondrow's scenario contemplates his argument on July the 14th, Staff's on the 17th, and intervenors on the 24th.


We do have a suggestion with respect to questions.  We could deal with them in writing, but we do also have the Thursday the 9th as a possible date that was scheduled for my argument, actually, and I of course will not be able to argue on that date, given what we have heard.


So would it be possible -- and I guess we don't know this yet -- to use part of that day as oral question and answer?


So I think that will depend on when the responses are filed, how complicated things are, and many other things, but I would recommend that the Board reserve that date now just in case.  So in other words, I would not recommend cancelling that date in case we can use it as an oral Q and A on any undertaking responses, unless that is impossible, Mr. Mondrow.


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I can address that, because Ms. Lea did raise it with us.


So Mr. Martin, as you know, will be in Europe, but we are prepared to proceed if it is expeditious and if there are legitimate questions on our materials with Mr. Savage and Mr. Labricciosa on the Thursday, and they will do their best to answer any questions.


MS. DUFF:  Well, the Panel appreciates the effort and understanding the circumstances.  Given the nature of the undertakings and how they relate to each other, I think it is fair to all parties to have an opportunity to compare and contrast and then determine if they need the additional time.  So think it is the preference of the Panel to reserve a day, and then based on feedback we can determine whether that is necessary or not.


I appreciate one of your witnesses is not available, but in the spirit of just trying to proceed in his absence it is appreciated.


MR. MONDROW:  He did actually offer to dial in, but I think that would be cruel and unusual.  He will be in Europe, and I can't put him through that.  If he's needed obviously he will, but I think we can proceed --


MS. DUFF:  I will leave that to you and your client.

I had one question -- so I think we have completed the preliminary matters, and any intervenors not here today, it is the responsibility to be checking the transcript, and I think we have covered that.


Regarding the dates in Procedural Order No. 4, the Board is now saying that those dates are no longer as stated, and we will clarify the dates, hopefully by the end of today.  The new tentative dates.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.


MS. DUFF:  Just regarding the transcript undertakings from yesterday.  My notes indicate that Mr. Aiken had a question regarding the MS9 and whether the cost was 16 million or 14.5, and I don't know what happened to that.  Was that answered informally?  Because originally I thought that was assigned number 2.3.


MR. MONDROW:  Oh, did I misstate my numbers?  Let me check.  I may have misstated my numbers.


So transcript undertaking 2.3 was given yesterday, and it is to confirm the current forecast for the capital investment, subject to the controllable capital investment efficiency incentive mechanism.


I am paraphrasing, but I think that was the MS9 question.


So I may have misstated the three interrogatories that I called the scenario interrogatories.


MS. DUFF:  When the numbers were being assigned yesterday, so if we could just double-check and make sure if the question regarding the cost, that discrepancy of 1.5 million has not been addressed, that we assign it a number by the end of the day.


MS. LEA:  My recollection is it didn't get assigned a number because it could be dealt with by another Panel, and perhaps that didn't happen.


MR. MONDROW:  I think we may be able to address that right now.


MS. DUFF:  That would be great.


MS. SPOEL:  If one looks at the list in the transcript, there are actually three undertakings numbered J2.3.


MS. LEA:  Oh, good heavens.


MS. SPOEL:  Three separate ones, so that may be the source of the confusion.


MR. MONDROW:  I may have missed one.


MS. DUFF:  That's the last time we allow Ms. Lea to assign the numbers.


[Laughter]


MS. LEA:  I want to read the transcript before I -- perhaps they were just added on.  I think they were probably added on.  I trust they were added.


MS. SPOEL:  There are three listed.


MS. LEA:  I am looking at it myself.


[Laughter]


MS. DUFF:  I remind you I did start as a hearing clerk, Ms. Lea.


MS. LEA:  Oh, nobody is going to believe anything I say now.


MR. MONDROW:  We could answer the question about MS9 now on the record, and I will certainly review the numbers and clarify.


MS. DUFF:  Just before we begin there and resume with panel number 3, just to recount we're going to be -- Mr. Aiken, you're the first to cross-examine.  That is fine and we expect -- you were expecting to be to be a half hour more?


MR. AIKEN:  I expect to be maybe fifteen minutes.


MS. DUFF:  That's wonderful, thank you.  All right.  Welcome back, panel.  So, Mr. Mondrow, if you have any direct or?


MR. MONDROW:  Not direct, but before the questioning starts, I believe that Mr. Martin does have some clarification he would like to offer in respect of his answers yesterday I think related to, among other discussions yesterday, Staff's questions about percentage increases in OM&A over the various test years.


I think Mr. Martin has reviewed that and wanted to add something.


MR. MARTIN:  Great, thank you.  I will be short.  I just wanted -- Ms. Lea had several questions about the pace and the increases in our OM&A and, in particular, there were some specific questions around the significant jump in 2015 and 2016.


So I did want to put some context around that and maybe just to -- if I don't repeat myself, just some explanation.


We have in the evidence, and we have talked about it several times, and we did include it in a presentation to the Board and intervenors in April, I believe, as well that we do have -- currently, we're very efficient and we're measuring that by virtue of using metrics that are produced in the OEB yearbook, OM&A per customer, customers per FTE, those types of metrics.


In terms of OM&A per customer, based on the latest published information which was from 2013, we're currently at a level of $208 per customer.  Relative to our peers, that's the second lowest.  The range is from $186 to $298.


In terms of customers per FTE, in fact, we have the highest number of customers per FTE.  We have 750 and this is per the yearbook.  The range amongst our peers is 395 and 695.


And based on benchmarking, we're in the second cohort group, and even on an adjusted basis for correcting kilometres of line, we're in the third. So again relatively efficient.


We also talked about the future efficiencies, or being efficient also in the future.  And for that, as evidence, we’ve provided PEG's benchmarking, which provides evidence regarding efficiencies that are either consistent with or better than a cohort level 3, based on the Board's current IRM benchmarking model, or PEG's current benchmarking model.


Our FTEs going in in the first year, in the first year of the test year, so in 2014 we were 78, I believe -- sorry, 74 for FTEs.  We ended the year with 78.


We have 81 employees identified for 2015.  In 2019, we have 80 employees.  So again, 70 percent of our costs roughly are associated with FTEs.  I think that implies efficiencies, and that's -- even if we've got one, one-and-a-half percent growth versus 3 percent growth, I think that is a significant efficiency.


I wanted to try to put something -- provide other comparisons that may be hopefully emphasized, or at least put some context around the increase in 2015.


So the Horizon decision has come up several times and I think it's -- at least from our perspective, we feel that it's being sort of identified as some sort of a kind of a poster decision because it has an index in it.  But let's maybe just take a look at the numbers for a second.


From their last cost of service to their first test year, there is a 17 percent increase in OM&A. From the last cost of service to their last test year, there is a 24 percent increase in OM&A.  And they have very little growth in their customer connections.


PowerStream, albeit it's in an application, their cost of service to the first test year is 20 percent increase in OM&A, and 30 percent when you look at it compared to the last test year.


Oshawa, even with the growth in 2015, we've had a 6 percent increase in OM&A from our last cost of service, and a 16 percent overall impact on OM&A from the last cost of service -- significantly lower, even if we are looking at a one-and-a-half percent growth versus 3 percent growth.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm sorry, I don't mean to object, but this is not clarification of an answer.  This seems to be direct again.  The witness has, you know, their --


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Mondrow, do you want to respond to that?


MR. MONDROW:  I haven't discussed this with the witness.  He asked to make some clarifications in respect of the discussions had yesterday, having thought about it overnight.


If the Panel doesn't find it helpful, they will ask him to move on.


MS. DUFF:  Okay, with that understanding and that concern, if you would please proceed.


MR. MARTIN:  I will.


MS. DUFF:  But again, clarification regarding testimony you provided yesterday.


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  My last point is we did talk about the under-spend in 2014 and did explain 2015, and I wanted to make sure that we positioned that correctly.


So in 2014 we did -- we under-spent, significantly from things that occurred that were outside of our control. 
So we've got an aging work force.  We had three people on LTD, which basically removed the salaries in 2014 from our burden and put it on the insurance burden.


Those positions are required, and they are in fact budgeted for 2015 and thereafter.


We also had turnover, which caused people leaving -- which again we referred to yesterday -- which basically created an FTE situation whereby, for part of the year, we didn't have that head count.


And given the level of earnings that the company was experiencing, as we've talked about as well, from the capital spending and the impact of load forecasts not being met, you know, some of the lead time that we took to replace positions, et cetera also we were taking that -- to the extent that we could mitigate the losses without substantively impacting the operations of the company, we did.


In fact, we did delay some of the hirings as well in order to preserve at least some of the expenses.


So sorry if I was offline, but that is my comments.  Thank you.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Mr. Aiken, please resume your questioning.


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  Yesterday, there was a lot of discussion about the relationship between customer growth and OM&A costs, and whether that relationship was the .44 factor as calculated by PEG, or the .11 factor used by PowerStream, or some other factor.


As I understand your evidence, however, there is no relationship between customer growth and OM&A costs in the 2015 to 2019 test year period.  Am I interpreting your evidence appropriately?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, so there is -- there is a -- certainly in building our forecast we took into account the growth, but there isn't any -- there isn't any material expenses associated with that growth on the OM&A side, and other than meter and connection costs there wouldn't be any direct connection on the capital side or any other material amount.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Would you agree that historically, perhaps, the .44 factor estimated by PEG would have been applicable to Oshawa, while you were growing up to the current size?


[Witness Panel confers]


MR. MARTIN:  PEG's .44, as I understand it, is -- was based on an overall study, and I'm not sure that -- I'm not sure that on an individual basis whether that .44 would be specific, but there would be some metric associated with the growth, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you could turn to Exhibit K1.4.  This is the Energy Probe compendium.  And turn to page 24.  This is the OM&A cost-driver table from the June 23rd update.


I just want to be clear.  Ms. Lea covered some of the OM&A issues yesterday, and that has reduced my cross significantly.  But to be clear, the numbers she was discussing were a little bit different than the total shown here.


Am I correct that these numbers are the all-in OM&A, including property taxes and leap funding?


MR. SAVAGE:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, the lines I want to look at are labour-related, and I will also be using -- referencing table 4-23, which is on the previous page of the compendium, page 23.  So I will be flipping back and forth between these two tables.


The first line I am looking at in appendix 2JB is succession planning for retirements.  I take it these cost drivers are cumulative?  So for example, if you look at the 2015 cost driver of 93,000 and then the cost driver in 2016 of 165,000, that means that in 2016 the costs are roughly 260,000 more than they were in 2014.


MR. SAVAGE:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  That's right?  Okay.  And this cost driver, this succession planning retirement, if you go to table 4-23, this relates to the eight retirements and the eight replacements that are shown in -- basically in the first half of that table; is that correct?  It is the net change in costs as a result of those eight people retiring and the eight people being hired to replace them.


MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.  What we tried to do was match -- obviously there's more than eight retirements over the five-year plan, but we're trying to capture where there are overlaps in this case, which is what we're calling the succession planning cost.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, okay.  I understand that.


Then on the next line on appendix 2JB, we have new hires.  That's 179,000 in 2015 and another 108,000 in 2016.  And nothing beyond that.


And am I correct that these new hires are related to customer growth?


MR. SAVAGE:  Yeah, I think we could -- to a point.  So...


[Witness Panel confers]


MR. MARTIN:  So there's -- so, no.  They aren't.  The positions that we're hiring here, so we've got a new design, supervisor position, that's more associated with the capital requirements.


We have an asset -- we have a manager of asset management that we're bringing on board in order to -- at this point we don't have anybody directly associated with managing infrastructure, and -- other than the senior management.  So we've got a position there, given -- we believe there is a need, given the infrastructure.


We have an IT person, again, which is not associated with customer service, et cetera.  We've got -- we are at a point, given the outage management system and some of the other systems that we've implemented over the last few years, the -- what we had, SCADA, we implemented a GIS system, et cetera, so we're at a point in order to support those systems we only have one IT person, or had one IT person currently, so we needed an IT person.


There is one customer-service person that has been added.  That is -- could be, in part, attributed to customer growth.  That would be the one position that would have been looked at at targeting it, but we're also -- we're also struggling at this point in time in dealing with the number of initiatives and some of the work that's associated with tracking and monitoring and administrating some of the regulatory issues revolving around low-income changes, billing changes, we've talked at length about customer engagement, et cetera.


So that position was, in part, identified to assist in those areas, but admittedly in part it was -- that one position was partly due to customer growth.


MR. AIKEN:  If you take a look at the table 4-23 on the new hires subtotal line, and the second-last column that is titled "2012 APP to 2019".  You see the number 5.8 there?  How did you arrive at that number?  Because if I add up the numbers across there, I get something significantly higher.  It is 9.4.


MR. SAVAGE:  The 5.8 is the -- well, in simple terms it is the 80.8 FTEs that we're projecting in 2019 versus 75, which we were approved for in 2012.  So...


MR. AIKEN:  Okay, and then the positions that Mr. Martin was describing, is that really the difference between the 5.8 and the 9.4, that are not related to customer growth?


MR. SAVAGE:  Sorry, I missed the 9.4.  Where is that?


MR. AIKEN:  Well, if you add up 2.6, 1.34, and 1.5, you get 9.4 between 2012 and 2019, rather than the 5.8.


MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, I am a little bit slow.  Where are the three numbers --


MR. SAVAGE:  Well, I can answer --


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, I would just like to see the numbers, Mr. Aiken, the three numbers you just referred to.


MR. AIKEN:  2012 actual, new hire subtotal 2.6.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, I see it.


MR. AIKEN:  Skip over two columns, 1.3, followed by 4 and 1.5.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, thank you.


MR. AIKEN:  The reason I am asking is because your evidence states -- and this is on Exhibit 4, page 45.  There is a bullet point that says "additional 5.8 FTEs to 2012 Board-approved to handle growth assumed in the period.


Then it says: "See table 4-23 below."

MR. SAVAGE:  That would suggest that -- I mean, I could check that and report; we could take it as an undertaking.


I mean, I am certain the 5.8 is the correct number.  So within the columns, I just have to review that.


MR. AIKEN:  No, no, that's fine.  If the 5.8 is the correct number, that's fine.


MS. GIRVAN:  Could I just interject, because I had a number of questions around this?


If you are going to do an undertaking, if you go to Exhibit 4, page 5, it says that the primary driver for the growth rate in O&M is a planned increase in Full-time equivalents from 75 to 81 required to support the expected increase in customer connections.


So I just wanted to be clear that that's -- it just seems to be a little bit inconsistent with what you have just said, so I would like --


MR. SAVAGE:  It is certainly part of it, but a bigger part of it is just the requirement to deal with, you know, new and developing requirements, plus the capital work we've talked about.


MR. MARTIN:  Yes, I don't think we need an undertaking.  I think I explained if -- we've identified the positions that we have that are increasing, and I think those positions should be evidence.  Adding an IT person doesn't have any direct bearing on the number of customers.


The asset management individual is there for infrastructure.  We are definitely expanding on our infrastructure, whether it is a 1.5 percent increase or 3 percent increase and, in part, there would be one customer service person that would be subject to, or could be attributed to the customer connections.


The undertaking would state the same information.  So the application in this context isn't in fact where we ended up with, in terms of identifying the new hires.


In fact, if we look at the table that Mr. Aiken had pointed out, the new hires are actually being put in place in 2015 and 2016.


MR. AIKEN:  And actually that was going to be my next question.  If these -- if these additions, new hires, they're concentrated in the first part of your five-year plan.  I take it that is -- from your explanation yesterday to Ms. Lea, these are positions that you need now?


MR. MARTIN:  Correct.


MR. AIKEN:  And beyond 2016, any customer growth you will be able to absorb with those positions added in 2015 and 2016?


MR. MARTIN:  That's the plan, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Aiken, I am going to interject because it might save some confusion about the numbers.


When you are looking at your table 4-23, the line that has the new hires subtotal that, you are correct, adds up to more than 5.8, I think that is because the actuals in 2012 were 73.8, but the comparison in the column is to the 2012 approved, which was 75.


So some of those numbers are bringing it up to 75.  The comparison is to the 75, not to the number that was the actual in 2012.  But the number of new hires appears to include the ones hired in 2012, which didn't even bring it up as 75.


So I think that is the source of the difference, because it is a comparison to an approved rather than to an actual.


Maybe that could save some time overall, in terms of answering undertakings and all of the rest of it.


MR. SAVAGE:  Yes, I believe that's the explanation and I will confirm later.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Going back to appendix 2-JB, the next line I want to look at is the overlap relievers/ replacements.


First of all, can you explain what that means?


MR. SAVAGE:  That's simply when someone resigns or leaves for whatever reason.  In some cases, there's a delay in replacing that position.  So obviously we would have a saving in that case, and there are occasions, I think, where we would hire somebody in advance of somebody leaving.


MR. MARTIN:  So our succession planning relates solely to the line folks, and the plan is basically to bring in apprentice-level individuals to work with the individuals that are set to retire.


The plan is to do that, to the extent that we can control it, for increments of six-month periods.


The other component that David is referring to is that in some cases -- and we have had a situation recently -- you get two weeks' notice when someone leaves, and it might take a few months to replace that person.


So while there are savings in the year that the transition occurred, it's a blue bird in the year that the savings are incurred, but it is not a sustainable savings.  It has to be put back into the budget for the following year in full.


MR. AIKEN:  Does this line also take into account vacancies?


MR. SAVAGE:  It would, in the sense that if somebody left -- in this case, in 2014.  So our costs would go down by, say, $50,000, if it was half a year for that vacancy. The next year, if we filled the position on January 1st, we would have a full year cost.


So you would have a negative $50,000 in 2014, and then 2015 would show a positive $50,000.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  The next cost driver I want to ask about is the labour other, including over time.  And in this one, there is $170,000 increase in the 2015 test year, followed by small increases in the following years.


Now, does this mean that the overtime has gone up, and is forecast to remain at that higher level from 2015?


MR. SAVAGE:  No.  The bulk of that change in 2015 relates to the fact that in 2014, we had a couple of individuals off for pretty much the whole year on long-term disability.


So we had a sizeable saving in 2014, but they're budgeted to return in 2015.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MR. SAVAGE:  And the overtime, there wasn't a dramatic change from 2014 to 2015.


MR. AIKEN:  And then finally, down a little further in the table there is a line labelled "allocations to capital and jobbing work."


Does this line item reflect the capitalization of some of your labour costs?


MR. SAVAGE:  It does.


MR. AIKEN:  I am curious as to why the figures in 2018 and 2019 are similar to the two previous years, yet you have a significant increase in your capital expenditures in 2018 and 2019 related to your MS9 substation.


So my question is:  Why isn't there an increase in the amount of labour capitalized for that project?


MR. SAVAGE:  The larger increase in 2015 is due to FTE issues, where we are -- we have a jump in 2015 from filling vacancies, plus I think one or two new hires.


In 2016 onwards, the increase is mainly inflationary, because we're not forecasting -- although we're forecasting more capital work, the amount of internal labour that we have available for that capital work isn't changing, or isn't planned to change.


MR. AIKEN:  So there's no more design time, or anything related that would be capitalized for the MS9 station.


Well, first of all, are you contracting a lot of that work out, including the feeders?


MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.  I mean, Ivano can talk specifically to the contractors.  But what I'm saying is from a labour perspective Oshawa has -- say it has up to 35 individuals who could be allocated to capital.  The specific number that can -- or that will be available for capital work is limited.


Once we get to 2016 onwards, it is not going to change.  So any capital requirements above their capacity would have to be subcontracted.  So it wouldn't impact on this line.


MR. AIKEN:  All right, okay.  Then I guess my final question is back on the MS9 station costs, 14-and-a-half or 16 million.


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I can clarify that.  The answer to the question is, the 14-and-a-half is directly attributed to MS9 design, construction, commissioning work, and the extra -- or the additional one-and-a-half million that totals the 16- is the work that is involved with the neutral reactors at all of the other stations.  So in essence, it is not related to MS9.


MS9 work is 14-and-a-half, neutral reactors is the other million-and-a-half at the other MS stations, which brings it up to 16- for stations work.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So if you look at page 22 of the compendium -- this is appendix 2AA -- those neutral reactors, the 450,000 in 2015 and the million and 50,000 in 2016, that is the difference?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  And they're related to other --


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  The other stations, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  The other stations?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.


MR. MARTIN:  Maybe I can clarify that and Ivano can confirm it.  So the idea of the clarification in the update was just to ensure that everybody was aware that as a result of the May update to the capital spending the controllable element of the capital changed, which basically would have -- it could impact the capital incentive mechanism.


And I believe in that case the 16- is the correct number, because the neutrons would be part of the controllable capital?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.


MR. MARTIN:  So the -- while I grouped them together in the update into one number, the point being that the controllable budget, the budget for controllable investments, changed by 16 million.  But the total amount was MS9 and the 1.5 is the other.


MR. AIKEN:  So just to be clear, then.  Your capital incentive mechanism will cover the system renewal costs, the MS9 substation, the MS9 distribution feeders, and the neutral reactors?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, if I could interject.  This might be a good place to clarify one of the three J2.3 undertakings.


If the witnesses could provide then, with that clarification from Mr. Aiken, the total dollar amount for the controllable capital incentive efficiency mechanism, which was one of those three undertakings.


MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.  So just to put a number to what Ivano just said, that would be 40 million-959, which is the system renewal piece of 24,959, the 14.5 million for MS9, and the 1.5 million for the neutral reactors.


MR. AIKEN:  I am having trouble with my memory from yesterday, but I thought we had agreed that the CWIP -- the million-60,000 in 2015 would not be included in the 24,959.


MR. SAVAGE:  We can certainly take it out.  We included it for simplicity.  That number won't change.  It is effectively an actual number.  So --


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, all right.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much, Mr. Aiken.


Ms. Girvan, you are next on the list.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  I think I will be quite a bit less than my estimate, just given what's just covered by Mr. Aiken.


I just had a question.  Can you go back to the schedule where you have the FTEs, please.


MS. DUFF:  Excuse me, Mr. Rubenstein, there was a change in the schedule?  I just want to make sure I got that right.  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  He was very nice to let me go ahead of him.


So in terms of the FTEs, I think there was a schedule that says in 2015 you expect to have 80 FTEs, and then in '16, 85?  That is just rounding.  So where are you today in terms of FTEs for 2015?


MR. SAVAGE:  As of today I think we're 79.  As of, like, right now.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, that's fine.  Thanks.  I just have to go through -- just because I had some questions Mr. Aiken covered off, I just want to make sure I have got everything here.


So Mr. Martin, you listed the actual positions.  You have covered all of those off, that those are the actual positions that you are going to be hiring; is that correct?


[Witness Panel confers]


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  I just wanted to make sure I didn't miss somebody.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Because I just wanted to be clear, because when I first read your evidence it said that all of the FTEs were associated with customer connections, so that is why I wanted to be clear that that is a little bit different than what you said originally, but that is where you stand now.


MR. MARTIN:  Correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks.  If you can please return -- or go to -- it's the CCC Interrogatory No.4-32, please, section 4.  It is number 32.  Thank you.


We follow Board Staff.  Great.


So this just says that you haven't done any compensation studies since 2012.  And I just wondered, is there anywhere in the evidence that you've provided anything to compare your employee costs to other Ontario LDCs?


MR. MARTIN:  No.


MS. GIRVAN:  No?  So how internally do you assess whether your compensation levels are appropriate?


[Witness Panel confers]


MR. MARTIN:  So we -- externally we've used -- we've predominantly used the MEARIE.  MEARIE produces sort of industry-wide metrics, and we've used that information to benchmark the positions that we've got.


Other than that, generally speaking our costs are in line, and --


MS. GIRVAN:  They're in line?  How do you assess that?


MR. MARTIN:  OM&A costs in general are in line with other utilities, et cetera, 70 percent of which is our labour and benefit costs.


MS. GIRVAN:  So you don't use any other external benchmarks, any other studies like Towers Perrin or anything like that?


MR. MARTIN:  No, no.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Now, with respect to the FTEs again, I just wanted to be clear, how do you budget with vacancies?  How do you deal with vacancies, in terms of your budgeting process?  So you said you had 79 positions.  Do you have 79 people hired that are actually in those positions, or do you have the positions established or...


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  And we had one recently leave.  So we do not budget for vacancies.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. MARTIN:  And going back to 2000 and -- so there are years when we haven't had any turnover, and there are years -- we don't have a consistent history of turnover vacancies up to this point.  But there are years that we have it, but we don't budget for any.


MS. GIRVAN:  We might see where you said you had people in disability, then you sort of incorporate that in?


MR. MARTIN:  We have not incorporated that into our budgets.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And if you can just turn to CCC number 33, which is the next one in that list, yes.


So you've estimated that 20 employees are eligible to retire in 2014 to '19.  Are you assuming that they all will retire?


MR. MARTIN:  I can answer that, actually.  So the way we have budgeted for the retirements, other than the succession planning that we have programmed in for linemen and the trades, we have budgeted essentially to replace people as they retire.


So to the extent that, in some positions where we need to bring people on early, then we don't have that extra cost built into the budget.


On the other hand, in the event that there's lead time between retirees and getting a replacement hiring, we don't have the savings built in.  We believe those two will offset one another.


Generally speaking, we have a fair amount of notice when someone retires.  So we're usually able to replace those positions, if they're planned to be replaced.  We usually can replace those positions pretty much in line with when they leave.


MS. GIRVAN:  All right, thank you.


MR. MARTIN:  If they don't retire -- I'm not suggesting we're expecting all twenty to retire, but we believe that that concept works for the folks that, in fact, will retire.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  This was touched on a bit yesterday, but if you turn to Board Staff 28, please -- I will wait til you get there.


MR. MONDROW:  This is in the 4 series of exhibits?


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  It is really -- okay, sorry.


So this was discussed yesterday about the increase in billing and collection, and I just wanted to get a little bit better sense of this.


You've talked about people that have moved to electronic billing, and that you have a take-up rate of 20 percent.  Do you think that is going to increase over the term of the plan?


MR. MARTIN:  We don't.  Twenty percent is actually -- I think we're either the highest penetration in Ontario, or second.  Ottawa may be slightly higher.


We certainly continue to put efforts into increasing that penetration number, but we are experiencing a fairly significant levelling-out in terms of new subscriptions.


So we have not built in additional savings.  However, the savings that are resulting from the 20 percent are -- we are not putting the costs back in.  Those efficiencies are built into the forecast.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And are you looking for other efficiencies in this area?  It seems to me like billing could be an area where you could get more efficiencies over time.


MR. MARTIN:  Currently we don't really see any opportunity.  In fact, there is probably exposure for the opposite.


We have a third party billing provider and we have been working off a contract since, I believe, 2005 or 2006, and there has not been an increase in the service costs associated with that billing since that time.


So I think we're doing extremely well, in terms of what our costs are through that third party billing, and it's going to be a challenge to keep those costs where they are today.


MS. GIRVAN:  This is next just a clarification on some numbers where I would like a reconciliation.  If you would please turn to Staff number 29, please?


So this is an increase in, if you just -- turn down the question -- administration and general.


If you just take note of this $160,000 increased regulatory costs related to the amortization of rate application costs -- if you can just sort of hold that in your brain and turn to Staff 32, please.


Here it says that the unamortized amount for the 2012 rate case is $47,000.  So I just wondered if you could reconcile those two numbers.  Because you're seeking to recover, I think in 2015, $160,000 related to the sort of amortization of the 2012 costs, and then this says it is $47,000.


MR. SAVAGE:  Okay, yes, they're two different numbers.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. SAVAGE:  The $160,000 was the increase in regulatory costs as a whole at the time of filing, or the interrogatory response.


The $47,000 was what was left over from the 2012 rate application costs.


So, for example, in 2012 we were approved for $400,000 to be amortized over four years.  The actual cost was $347,000.  So in 2012, 2013 and 2014 we amortized $100,000 in each year, leaving $47,000 remaining to be amortized.


So what we have done for 2015-2019 is taken the costs of the current application, plus the $47,000, and amortized it over the five years.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. SAVAGE:  Sorry, just to clarify.  Because we're rebasing or applying to rebase one year early, that is why we had the balance left over from the previous application.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And then can you sort of go back to explain the $160,000?


MR. MARTIN:  So we've got -- so the $47,000 is what's left over from the cost of the 2012 rate application.


MS. GIRVAN:  Mm-hmm.


MR. MARTIN:  The $160,000 essentially includes the amortization of the cost of this application.


MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, okay, I see.  Thanks, that's very clear.


So if you remain on Board Staff 32, please, here you've listed the consulting costs -- the consultants and the consulting studies that amount to $434,000.


I just had two questions about that.  Could you provide the amounts forecast for each consultant and the amounts billed to date?


MR. MONDROW:  I think there may be some commercial sensitivity in respect to payments made to these consultants.  I will get Mr. Martin to correct me, if I'm wrong.


MR. MARTIN:  Well, there may be some sensitivities and I thought that we had -- there was a question that was raised during the undertaking, and I thought that we were going to determine it or handle it by -- if any of these particular consultants on an individual basis were material, that we would disclose those.


And in that case, none of the -- well, we would have one that would be subject to materiality.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, well my -- the first part of the -- the second part of my question was really the amounts billed to date.  If you're sensitive about each consultant of the sort of total $434,000, could you --


MR. MARTIN:  We certainly can provide that.  We would just have to -- is it possible, so to eliminate the confidentiality part of it, because that -- could we just line them up by numbers and say this is what the forecast is for consultant 1 and --


MS. GIRVAN:  I will leave it to you to do that.  Yeah, I mean, you have a forecast and then you've got -- I assume that most of this work is already completed.



So I would just like to get a sense, relative to your forecast, of --


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, if I could ask through you, Ms. Girvan, if we provided the amount of the $434,500 dollar total billed to date, would that satisfy Ms. Girvan's request?


MS. GIRVAN:  Well, I would like it broken down, if you could, to some extent.


MR. MONDROW:  If we're going to break it down by numbers, I'm not sure how that will help.  It's not going to be attributed to any particular name, so I'm not sure what those particular numbers are really going to provide.


I think there is an undertaking response somewhere that none of these are over $100,000.  Mr. Martin, I think, indicated a minute ago that one might be.


But I am not sure what giving those details is going to elucidate in respect of the request for recovery of these costs.


MS. GIRVAN:  Well, if you can just tell me what you have got billed to date, that would be helpful.


MR. MARTIN:  We can give the forecast and what is billed to date.  I am confused.  In total?


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  In aggregate.


MR. MARTIN:  Yes, okay.


MS. LEA:  That would be undertaking J3.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  to provide the amounts forecast for each consultant and the amounts billed to date


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Mr. Rubenstein actually just pointed out something to me.  In your latest update, I think June 23rd, you did update your regulatory costs and there was a significant increase.


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  I would also like to get a sense of -- the 434, has that been increased as well?


MR. MONDROW:  I think that was the undertaking to provide the current forecast of the total costs for consultants and to provide the amount billed to date both in aggregate if that is acceptable.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. MARTIN:  We will ensure that we provide the comparison to the latest budget.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  So...  Sorry?


MS. DUFF:  Just one clarification.  So those consultants are separate from your regulatory costs?


MR. SAVAGE:  No.  They're part of the rate application costs.


MS. DUFF:  Yes.  Thank you for clarifying that.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, I am going to turn to some questions about capital, please.  So if you could turn up the -- it's the chapter 2 work-form spreadsheet that we looked at yesterday.  And it is appendix 2AA.  And I would have produced it, but it's really hard to...


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, that's fine.  If I could just ask maybe for this afternoon if people know they're going to be referring to things in advance, if we could just get the numbers in advance --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, I'm sorry --


MR. MONDROW:  -- it would save a few minutes pulling them up.


MS. GIRVAN:  -- I should have given that to you earlier.


MR. MONDROW:  That's fine.  We'll be there in a moment.


MS. GIRVAN:  I tried copying, but it didn't --


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Robbins is doing an excellent job.


MR. MONDROW:  He is.  I'm sorry, Ms. Girvan, the reference?


MS. GIRVAN:  So it's chapter 2.  So it is in the run 4 of the revenue-requirement work form, and it is appendix 2AA.  It is not cost allocation.  It's the --


MS. DUFF:  Which year?


MS. GIRVAN:  -- 2 -- it will say 2.


MR. MARTIN:  Actually, is this the same table that Mr. Aiken had?


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.


MR. SAVAGE:  It is page 22.


MR. AIKEN:  Page 22 of my compendium.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay, let's do that.  Thank you.


MS. GIRVAN:  You have to squint.  Okay, so if we go to -- I am looking at the Highway 407 costs.  And we have Highway 407 costs in 2015 of 4.5 million, and we have contributions of 3.5 million.  And I just want to fully understand the one-million-dollar differential.


Ivano, I think you can probably provide an explanation for that.


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  The $1 million is the additional infrastructure that OPUCN is putting in while the construction is happening at the 407 site.


From our perspective, it is the future provisioning that we're providing for extra feeders in the future that will cross the 407 or route through the 407, and it's more economical at this stage to do it in advance, anticipating down the road that we will need it while the 407 is under construction.


So because it is serving our needs and not the 407's, we're using this opportunity to do that work at this stage.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, and given that the development, the 407 I think is, you've stated in your evidence, is between three and six months behind plans, is this really an expenditure that needs to be made in 2015?  Should it be reassessed sort of pending the development of the 407?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We did not get a formal change order on the scheduling yet from the 407.  Essentially they did not achieve their winter planning session into the spring.


Their approach is to still catch up, so I think we have to go with the best information they have.  And again, it is client-driven.  So I think at this stage we're planning for it based on what we know and what they're communicating to us.


MS. GIRVAN:  Have you started this work?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Some of it I think we already have, yes.  We have done the relocations in some of those areas, yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And I guess I'm trying to get a sense, it's your position that, even though you don't need it now, you want to do it now?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  In terms of the extra million?


MS. GIRVAN:  Mm-hmm.


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes, I think -- again, the work that relates to that million is while they're working in that area we will install our infrastructure at the same time.  So inasmuch that they're still staying on schedule, we are going to do our work.  If they happen to slip off schedule, then we would not go in early or ahead of them.  We would wait until they get to that greenfield and breakthrough and put ours in at the same time.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Most of the work is underground, although there is overhead plant relocation as well.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  So the next thing I want to look at on this schedule is the subdivision expenses and the service connection requests versus the contributions.


So just briefly explain to me what the two line items are at the top, please.  That's the cost of putting subdivisions in?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.  The expansion work is really around getting the lines in the main -- the main roadways to facilitate -- it's greenfield expansion per se.


And then the service connections are essentially the physical connections to each individual customer.  And essentially the service connection -- there's a capital contribution related to those connections, the evaluation that's done.


So it is a net of our costs versus net of the contribution from the developer.


MS. GIRVAN:  How do you determine the contribution from the developer?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  At a high level, essentially it's the total cost to actually physically connect the development, less 25-year projection of the size of the load that the development is contributing to the customer base, and if the difference is negative -- in other words, the 25-year consumption will not offset the total cost to put the infrastructure in -- there is a capital contribution that the developer will give, and if it is positive, there is zero contribution.


MS. GIRVAN:  Looking at the numbers from 2011 to 2014, would you agree -- subject to check -- that the contribution level has been, on average, about 72 percent?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No, I agree that the contribution level in history -- historical has been higher.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So how do you forecast the contributions going forward from '15 to '19?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  In looking back, from the historical perspective, the contributions would be from what I would describe in-fill-type projects.  So redevelopment activity within the existing infrastructure.


As opposed to looking forward, it is more greenfield development.  And so from that perspective, the size of the jobs have changed and the mix of the load has changed.  So it is residential versus multi-storey dwelling or commercial industrial type.


MS. GIRVAN:  But I thought you said earlier that those lines were related to greenfield development.


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  In the 2010 to 2013, no.


MR. SAVAGE:  Can I jump in?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Sure, yes.


MR. SAVAGE:  I just want to talk about the forecast.  You can't compare the history per se, because the forecast is, as Ivano says, all greenfield.  We can pretty safely say that every subdivision we've looked at for the last several months, I would say, ranges between 50 and 60 percent contribution, and so we're confident going forward.


Historically some of the numbers, particularly in 2010 and '11 are, I won't say corrupted, but we had a lot of subdivision work that may have -- that stalled around 2008, which dragged on.  Many subdivisions took three, four years, even five years to complete.


When you do the final evaluations, oftentimes they change, particularly if a subdivision runs to four or five years.  So in those cases, the contribution at the end of the project might change significantly from what it would have been had the subdivision completed in a year.


So we had a lot of that in 2010 and '11.  So I am just pointing that out to show that the percentage -- the historical percentages you see here, you can't necessarily take them as an indicator --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. SAVAGE:  -- of the future ones and of the actual ones.  Many of those that showed 70 percent in history, when we did the initial evaluation, probably would have been about 50, 55 percent.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.


So if you could turn to Exhibit 2, tab B -- sorry.  Page 77.  Just at the bottom of the page.  I just want to get some clarification here.


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, it is page 77?


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.


MS. GIRVAN:  at the very bottom, yes, thank you.


So just very briefly, this talks about relocation work that is driven by both the city and the region, and you are compensated 100 percent for that, I believe.


But it also says:

"Additional or upgraded plant for future system and customer needs is at OPUCN's cost and planned according with distribution system planning."

So what is the nature of those projects, the ones that you don't get funded for?  I am trying to understand the relationship between those driven by the city and why these are sort of packaged together.


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  The city and the region are governed by a formulaic approach, in terms of -- the Ministry of Transport, I believe, set out some guidelines as to cost sharing between municipal agencies and the utilities, when the work for common interests come forward.


Inasmuch that the region and the city's projects come forward in terms of road widenings related to, again, the 407, those projects are driven -- because the city and the region decide to widen the road, it's driven by the 407 in terms of the activity.  But it's region and city roads.


And in that case, we undertak -- I think 50 percent of the labour is split, and 100 percent of the materials is covered by us.


MS. GIRVAN:  But, it is the additional or upgraded plan.


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  The upgraded plan would be ours.  So again, the same applies that if, while we're trenching in the roadway or while there is common trenching involved, if we take the opportunity to upgrade the infrastructure on our side for our needs, we pay 100 percent of that.


MS. GIRVAN:  How do you decide whether that is cost-effective or not?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Again, this is looking outside of the application.  I would say coming back afterwards, in general, I don't think we would do it on a one by one basis, but we look at it and say coming back ten years later to do the work while the roadway is already completed and the boulevards are landscaped to try to get into the area and put the infrastructure in, comes at a very heavy price, in terms of restoration costs.


So while the trench is open it would make sense to minimize the future cuts and future restoration costs.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks.  If you could please turn to Exhibit 2, tab B, page 83?  So we're in the same schedule, whatever we're calling that, the Distribution System Plan.


Just briefly with respect to this remote disconnect/reconnect metering program, is this a pilot program?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No, it's not.


MS. GIRVAN:  It's not?  Okay.  And in the context of this program, are you going to be replacing smart meters that you've already installed in recent years?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Only in the case that they are -- they have to be replaced, either scheduled due to be replaced and/or defective and we replace them.


MS. GIRVAN:  In the context of this program, you are not replacing smart meters prematurely?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No.


MS. GIRVAN:  That was really my question.  Okay.


Then it also says that you've built in a hundred thousand dollars in efficiencies with respect to this program.


I just wondered if you could -- if you could tell me where I could find those efficiencies.  The estimated avoided costs for technician services is over $100,000 per year.


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Those would be avoided rollouts to disconnect and reconnect the customers, and so those are built into our operating side of the business.


I don't think you are going to see it as a distinct cut in the operating costs or drop of $100k.  It is folded into our expected forecasts, in terms of billings, collections.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Could you please turn to -- oh, just go up, scale up a bill to the "OEB MST metering program."  And all I want to know is:  Are the costs of this program being allocated to the non-residential customers only?


[Witness Panel confers]


MS. GIRVAN:  He just turned you off.


MR. SAVAGE:  No, I think I am on.  I think if I am right, and Randy can probably confirm this --


[Laughter]


MS. GIRVAN:  Do you want him to sit with you on the Panel?


[Laughter]


MR. SAVAGE:  However, the cost allocation model currently allocates to the different classes, and it will allocate different capital categories in some cases.  But this will be allocated in a similar way across, I think, all groups.


MS. GIRVAN:  So it is not a direct allocation to the greater than 50 kilowatt?


MR. SAVAGE:  No.  I think the only thing you could say here or about those is that they wouldn't be allocated to the unmetered class.  But the system of allocation, I'm pretty sure it doesn't allow for that to be a direct -- directed specifically to a class.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  And then quickly the -- on page 84 of that same exhibit, you talk about this prepaid metering program for residential customers.


And just quickly, is this a pilot and how will you determine which customers this will apply to?  And have you completed a business plan for this program?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  In this case, it is a pilot, Ms. Girvan, and we have not yet selected the customers.


We have put a notional plan together, but we haven't detailed it out.


MR. MARTIN:  It would be -- we have talked about the profile of the customer that we would be targeting or applying it to in the pilot, and that would be customers who have historically had a history of defaulting on accounts and --


MS. GIRVAN:  Have you looked at other jurisdictions or other utilities, in terms of whether this program makes sense?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We have done -- historically there have been some jurisdictions that have done a pilot program as such on prepaid meters.


My recollection is that they were somewhat successful for the target customers they have applied it to for people who wanted to go on a controlled way of managing their financial obligations for energy consumption.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks.  Then I would like to turn to Exhibit 2, tab B, schedule 7, attachment H.


MS. DUFF:  I am just trying to plan the rest of our --


MS. GIRVAN:  You know what, I'm almost finished and I will be probably another maybe ten minutes, if not less.  Is that okay?  It is up to you.


MS. DUFF:  Okay, ten minutes; we will continue.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks.  So I am just looking at these grid modernization projects, and I know this sort of characterizes sort of smart grid.


I am just wondering which of these projects are essential and which of them are discretionary.


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  There is a business case for each one of these projects, so inasmuch that we expect to have the benefits exceed the value or the costs, which makes it a positive value equation, I would say they all qualify as essential, in my perspective, as a gain that we expect to cash in on.


MS. GIRVAN:  But aren't they really pilots in large measure?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  They're not necessarily pilots.  I mean, these are products that are available.


I would say in Oshawa PUC's case, we are in some cases trying things for the very first time.  So in our case, we are testing them, but again, from my perspective, it is not R&D.  It is applied improvements.


MS. GIRVAN:  Have you built any savings into your forecast related to these programs?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I believe the business cases have the savings identified, in terms of --


MS. GIRVAN:  But has it been built into your forecast?


[Witness Panel confers]


MR. MARTIN:  Again, any specific savings associated, this would be basically of the avoided cost nature.  So again, we haven't identified them per se.


These are things that -- a number of these projects, for example the underground distribution automation project, there is a need.  So while we've characterized it as grid modernization, there is a need for the work to be done.


However, the plan is to take advantage of new technology, as opposed to putting in.  So they don't all lend themselves to cost efficiencies.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, so you haven't built in savings related to these projects.  That was my original question.


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No.  I would say the answer is correct --


MS. GIRVAN:  And then quickly if you turn to the last page in that exhibit, it talks about -- just a second.  The -- sorry, the project you're undertaking in 2018/'19, the voltage monitoring program, for two years, it said $450,000.  And you are doing it in '18 and '19.


Do you think it is premature now to determine whether or not that is a relevant project, given you haven't completed a lot of your other grid modernization?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I would say, yes, I think it is prudent for us to continue it.  I mean, from my perspective the volt-var optimization project is not related directly to some of the other projects, inasmuch that this is more around voltage support, power quality, and energy management.  Those are the benefits of this particular project.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  If you could turn to page 95 in the same Exhibit 2, tab B, please, back to the other one, sorry.  At page 95 -- that's it.  Just scroll down.  I am just looking for the fleet numbers.  General plant fleet.  It might be on the next page.  Pardon?  Oh, here we go.  If you keep scrolling down a little bit more.  Oh, no, sorry.


So if I look at the fleet --


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  -- there's table 43 I am looking for.  Oh, there it is.  Where do I see "fleet" in here?  Oh, the top line.  It is little, a little thing.


Okay.  So I just wondered why this -- in terms of fleet, you've got a huge bump-up in '15 and '16 and '17, and then you sort of go down again in '18 and '19, and do you -- over a business plan for your fleet replacement?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Again, this is based on conditions.  You know, I would say it is an asset condition assessment not unlike the one that we did for the utility infrastructure.


This one is basically set up as aging -- age and physical condition of the equipment.  And there are a couple of large purchases in 2015 and '16 and '17 which are the most expensive type in terms of the bucket trucks.


MS. GIRVAN:  Could you not spread those over the term of the plan versus trying to put them all into '15, '16, '17?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No.  I think we are pushing the assets as hard as we can when you come to fleet.  We are staging it in a sense that we're picking up one in each particular year, so we're -- I wouldn't say we were spreading it out over all five.  These are the most expensive vehicles to buy, and so, again, we have one in '16 and one in '17.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I just have one other question.  With respect to your outage management system --


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Mm-hmm.


MS. GIRVAN:  -- what did you actually spend in -- you spent 70,000 in 2014?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  The outage management system is both hardware, software, and there is upgrade required in interface points with the GIS system, GIS being the Geographic Information System, and SCADA, the SCADA system.


So the upfront work would have been to prep those interface systems to get them ready to connect with the product as we get into the implementation and testing and commissioning.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Has the fact that you spent 70,000 in 2014, has that changed the forecast cost for '15 going forward?


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No.


MS. GIRVAN:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  We will take our break.  We will resume again at twenty-five to 12:00, and it will be Mr. Rubenstein.  All right.  Thank you very much.

--- Recess taken at 11:17 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:40 a.m.


MS. DUFF:  Please be seated. Please proceed, Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Panel.  I have two documents, a compendium -- I'm not sure if the Panel has this document.  Does the Panel have the document?

DR. ELSAYED:  Not yet.


MS. SPOEL:  This is what was marked as Exhibit K1.3 originally?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, this is a new compendium.

MS. SPOEL:  Here it is.

MR. THIESSEN:  Each of you have them.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that document, compendium for Panel 3, as well as I provided a single double-sided sheet called "Proposed DSP Effectiveness Metric".

This was the undertaking response to J1.3 that was filed late last night.  I was wondering if we could mark those as exhibits.


MS. SPOEL:  I don't believe we have the second one.


MS. LEA:  I think I might have it.  I think that is what I was stapling just when you came in.

MS. LEA:  I wonder if we could mark the compendium, the SEC compendium as Exhibit K3.1?

EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  Panel 3 Cross-Examination Compendium of SEC


MS. LEA:  This is the panel 3 compendium, as distinct from the original panel 1.  And the double-sided sheet entitled "Proposed DSP Effectiveness Metric" will become Exhibit K3.2.


MR. MONDROW:  Actually, Madam Chair, I suggest we do not mark the second sheet as a separate exhibit.  We have filed through as response to undertaking J1.3, and that is what the sheet is.


The sheet that Mr. Rubenstein printed is the file that I sent around last night at 10:30 or 11, when my assistant was presumably at home and perhaps sleeping.  She has this morning retrieved, it put it in format, and filed it on RESS.


So it is actually J1.3, and I suggest we don't mark it separately.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But it isn’t.  You filed J1.3, I assume, formatted; so it won't look like this.


MR. MONDROW:  No, it won't, but the substance is identical.  We can put J1.3 on the screen and you can go from that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine.  I mean --


MS. LEA:  Certainly.  To avoid confusion then, we will not mark this as a separate exhibit.  For my own notes K3.2 remains open.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the compendium is simply information on the record in this proceeding, as well as a couple of other documents from previous proceedings that I sent to my friend on Monday.


Before I begin, and my friends have covered a number of areas I had planned to, I just want to deal with somewhat of a housekeeping matter.


Mr. Savage, in response yesterday to Mr. Aiken about why other revenues in some categories for 2016 to 2019 had changed, you said that there was an error based -- you had made the changes in 2015 based on the updated load forecasts, and because, I guess, the formula in the spreadsheet, it carried through for all of the years.

Do you remember that?


MR. SAVAGE:  That's correct, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You agreed that you would update to fix that.  But there was no undertaking given to actually provide the corrected numbers.


I was wondering if you could provide the corrected numbers.


MR. MARTIN:  That's not our job, is it, to take care of that?  You're right, sorry.


MR. SAVAGE:  We will take care of it.  We will make the changes and include it in our argument.


MR. MONDROW:  Why don't we take an undertaking and we will figure it out, how to respond?


MS. LEA:  Thank you, J3.2.


UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  to correct the other revenue forecast for 2016 through 2019.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry?


MS. LEA:  Do you wish to clarify that?

MR. MONDROW:  I wish to hear it.  I will check the record; I am sure Mr. Rubenstein stated it.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It was to correct the other revenue forecast for 2016 through 2019.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.


MR. MARTIN:  And there was two line items, right?  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to start out by asking about the OM&A portion of the budget.

From my understanding of the evidence on panel 1, essentially what you did to determine the budgeting for 2015-2019 was a bottom-up approach.  You looked at what, based on today, you believe you're going to need in each of those years to carry out the business.  Am I correct about that, at a high level?

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we could turn to page 2 of the compendium; this is appendix J-A.

And from just reading from this, you're seeking, in 2015, approximately $12.05 million for your OM&A portion of the budget.  That is what you're seeking approval for?

MR. SAVAGE:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this is an 8.9 percent increase over 2014, correct?

MR. SAVAGE:  Correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And by 2013, you're seeking $13.1 million; am I correct?

MR. SAVAGE:  By 2019, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  So let me ask -- the last time that you came in with respect of your 2012 rebasing application, the Board approved you at $11.33 million, and yet you only spent $11.067 million, so 2.3 percent less than you had sought.

Do you agree with that?

MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In fact, you didn't actually get to the $11.3 million until -- you didn't actually get to the approved amount until 2014.  Am I correct?

MR. SAVAGE:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So considering that you actually came in -- you got it an approved amount for 2012 and you didn't actually end up spending that amount for another two years after that, why should we believe that the 2015 to 2019 budgets are then appropriate?

MR. MARTIN:  Well, again going back to 2012, at the time we did budget for that.


I can't recall the circumstances around 2012.  And 2013 and 2014 -- in 2014, I know we experienced -- we've gone over that quite often.  We experienced turnover, et cetera, and LTD issues.


2013 and 2012, I can only suggest we did not execute on our plan.  I would say by 20 --


[Witness panel confers]


So in any event, we did not execute on the plan for the OM&A.

Moving to 2013 and 2014, I would say that there was a conscious effort, in fact, to try to mitigate some of the losses associated with the erosion in earnings related to the capital spend.


But in addition to that, we did agree in the 2012 rate application to a lift or at least -- are we allowed to talk about the settlement conference in 2008?

The settlement agreement of 2012 included a concession on load forecast which didn't materialize, which cost the company approximately $400,000 per year.


So there were -- there were decisions made on our part to mitigate some of the losses from the load forecast, et cetera, through the OM&A.  We do operate the business like a business.

We have to balance that against reliability, safety, ensuring that the utility is operating on a proper basis.

One thing that is a concern to us is that over that period of time, our reliability statistics are starting to trend down, so we need to address that.


So those cost levels, while we were able to make business decisions and operate the business for a short period of time under those conditions, we're not able to sustain the utility at those levels.


And I think that's again indicative of where we are relative to others in terms of what they're spending, et cetera.  So that's my response.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask you to turn to page 3 of the compendium.  This is a filing from your last proceeding.  This is from EB-2011-0073.  I am looking at table 1 here.  It shows the 2008 Board-approved versus your 2008 actuals.  And what it shows to me is that in 2008 the Board approved approximately $9.2 million.  And then in 2008 your actuals were $8.843 million.  So 3.9 percent less.  In fact, you don't even get to the $9.2 million until 2011.


So again, let me -- considering that -- and considering that you, again, underspent compared to your Board-approved, why should in 2015 to2019 we accept that these numbers --


MR. MARTIN:  Well, I'm surprised we're going that -- we dealt with this in 2012.  Fortunately, I can recall some of the events in 2008-2009.  I know that in -- on one hand we did have some -- certainly right in and around that time there was significant economic downturn in Oshawa, which was explained in our last rate application.  That had an impact certainly on the load of the company.


That was addressed in part by offering an early retirement package to seven individuals.  That was in order to do a couple of things.  One was to essentially revitalize the work force at the time, and for 2008 it did represent an underspend.


In addition to that -- and maybe resulting from that, or perhaps when I joined the company there was -- between 2008 and '9, in addition to the restructuring that took place, we had an additional 11 people actually leave the company in a very short period of time, and it essentially took us about approximately a year to basically get that level of spend back to -- so at that time, if I recall, we were -- we were forced to operate the company, I believe, in 2009 with a full-time equivalent that was around 63 people, so there were mitigating circumstances in 2008 and '9.


We were able to begin to recover those costs through '10 and '11.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we could turn to page 4.  This is again from a different proceeding.  This is from your EB- 2007-0710 proceeding.  I want to take a look at the first two columns on that chart.  If you could just keep that in your head.  The first one is Board-approved and the second one is Board actual.


If you could go to page 6 of the compendium, which has the totals.  You were approved to spend $8.854 million, approximately, and then you ended up spending 8.624 million. So about 3.9 percent less.  So do you see that?


MR. MARTIN:  I do.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So based on the fact that every single time that you have had a Board-approved number -- and I couldn't find any applications before 2006 -- so at least in the last three applications you've had a Board-approved amount, you have come in under that amount.


How can parties and this panel believe that really the budgets that you set for 2015 to 2019 are as lean as they can be, and that they aren't inflated?


MR. MARTIN:  So in terms of the 2006, in terms of this chart, I cannot respond to that.  There is two sides to this.  What the Board Panel can trust management to do in this company is to operate the business relative to the conditions that it faces.


We forecast as best we can.  We build a bottom-up budget, and there is a lot of factors that play into that.  One of them is the load forecast.


So again, in the time frame between 2008 and 2012, we believe primarily due to economic conditions we lost a number of large customers, et cetera.  The load forecast did not materialize.  The customer connection did not materialize.


So the company was faced, again, with a loss situation or an erosion in earnings situation and made business decisions in order to mitigate that as best they can.  So that they can trust that we will, in fact, do that.


The operating plans that we have going forward, these are our best plans, as they are laid out, given the conditions that we forecast to occur.


And to the extent that the conditions change that would require management to make business decisions during that period of time, we believe we have the obligation to do that.


So it is our best forecast going forward.  It's benchmarked.  We have explained the transition, and at this point in time what we can tell the Board is, it is our best forecast, and we will execute on it to the best that we can, provided that conditions don't change in order for us to make a management decision.


I don't think it is reasonable -- although evidence suggests to me, in particular with comparisons maybe to Horizon and PowerStream -- evidence suggests to me when we do comparisons of other utilities, it does suggest to me that perhaps the utilities do in fact spend the money in spite of the business decision that should be applied, you know, in order to continue attracting rates going forward.  Spend the money, you get the rates.


I don't think it's -- we don't believe that that is necessarily the way to operate a business.  If the business conditions occur as we forecast them, then we believe this is the best budget that we have.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am confused by your answer, because at least in your response to the -- why in 2012 and that cycle that you didn't spend up to the Board-approved and for the 2008 you talked about drop in load, thus that you change your OM&A.  You spent less on OM&A, as you are adapting to different business conditions.


Yet we have spent a lot of time in the last day asking you, if the load forecast drops in half, what is the change in OM&A.  You kept on telling us, there is no change.


So can you square those answers?


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  We -- again, going back to the load forecast, we put a package together.  We've got uncertain information that suggests that there is going to be unusual expansion in the city.


So to that, we developed a forecast with that expectation to go forward, and then built our plans around that to determine whether or not we could actually absorb that kind of an increase without the equivalent increase in OM&A expenses.


And again, 70 percent of our costs are FTEs.  We've got 81 starting and 80 at the end.  I think that implies that, you know, it is a big challenge for the utility to take up a 15 percent increase in its customer base without increasing any staff.


So we delivered that, but it was packaged with an annual mechanism to protect ourselves from the load forecast not coming into -- not materializing.


So we took it into consideration this time that in the past we had to make operating decisions in order to compensate for a load forecast that didn't materialize.


This time around we -- we've certainly baked in the trend for the load forecast, and based on that we believe our operating expenses are in line with that trend, and we also believe that we've got sufficient economies of scale to take up the extra expansion if it were to occur without a significant or material or -- a material increase in the OM&A costs.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But just to confirm.  You in your June 23rd update reduced the 2015 load forecast roughly in half.  Am I correct?


MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But there was no reduction in OM&A?  None at all.


MR. MARTIN:  No.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  I would like to talk about staffing, and if I could ask you to turn to page 7 of the compendium.  You said earlier on today that by the end of 2014 you had, I believe you said 78 FTEs, am I correct?


MR. SAVAGE:  No.  Seventy-eight positions hired at the end of December.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I just want to understand what the basis of this chart is.  Is it based on beginning of the year, year end, mid-year, average?


MR. SAVAGE:  Full-time equivalents, so it is the average.  So if an individual was employed for six months of the year, he translates into 0.5 in this number.  But that is on a FTE basis.


However, he is a one in the 78 we talked about separately.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just to be clear then, the average in 2014 was still 74 FTEs, and the average in 2015 is 80?


MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is an increase of still the six FTEs?

MR. MARTIN:  Six FTEs, but an increase of two from the December 31st number.  So we've already -- we already have 78.

MR. SAVAGE:  79 now.


MR. MARTIN:  79 now.  But as of December 31, 2014, we already have 78.   So we can't compare the 78 to the 74 Full-time equivalents, unless we plan a reduction in staff.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  But then the year-end number in 2015 will not be eighty.  It will be some amount higher, right?

I see you are hiring an additional five for 2016, so I assume some of those people will be hired at the end of 2015?

MR. SAVAGE:  81 is the forecast year-end number for 2015.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, thank you.

Now I don't want to belabour this point, but if we could turn to page 10 of the compendium?  This was an interrogatory where we asked you:
"For each new position the applicant is forecasting adding during the test period, please provide a description and rationale."

The general response, as I read it is:

"The principal driver behind all of the new positions proposed is a projected customer growth of approximately 15 percent from 2014 to the end of the rate period, 2019.  The comparable proposed growth in FTEs over that period is 8 percent."

Do you see that?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the first FTE for customer service and the rationale, you say, is "additional CSR required to accommodate customer growth forecast at 3 percent per annum"; do you see that?


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  That is consistent with what I mentioned this morning.  That is the position that, in part, is due to that, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then under grid construction and maintenance, 1 FTE, it says: "New lineman to accommodate projected growth."  Do you see that?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then under technical design, two FTEs, and the explanation is: "One design technician required to accommodate projected growth.  One design supervisor added in 2014 to manage increased work load."  Do you see that?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  In that case we're talking about capital growth, right, the capital structure, infrastructure plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm just talking about staffing.


MR. MARTIN:  But I this it is important to know we're talking about two different factors there, right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I accept that.  Then if we turn to page 11, metering, one FTE.  "New meter technician required to accommodate projected growth."


Now, is that position also 100 percent capitalized?

MR. MARTIN:  Not a hundred percent.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you have a sense, just at a high level, what the split is?


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, just to clarify the question.  The evidence is not about capitalization of costs; it is about capital growth.

Mr. Rubenstein just asked if that position 100 percent capitalized.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I thought your position was that the technical design would have been allocated to capital.  I maybe misheard what you --


MR. MARTIN:  No.  But capital designs, capital plans, et cetera -- but it's not -- it's impossible to capitalize 100 percent of any of these positions.  But to the extent that their time is spent on a discrete identifiable project under IFRS, it could be capitalized.


So, yes, some of it -- not all of this hits OM&A; some of it hits capital.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Considering again that all of these positions talk about the purpose of increasing to this amount of new positions is to deal with load growth and deal with growth.  How can you then say that if there is a reduction in growth by half for 2015, or if there is changes to the load forecast going forward, there would be no changes to the FTEs?

MR. MARTIN:  Well, I think Ivano addressed that yesterday.


I mean, other than connection costs and meter costs that are approximately a million dollars a year in investments, the other capital infrastructure programs that we have in place are not directly related to customer growth.

So these positions aren't really directly related to customer growth.  They're more directed towards the growth in capital infrastructure, development, load growth, et cetera.


So with the exception of the customer service person, which that particular position would be directly impacted by customer growth, the other positions are more related to the capital programs that would not materially change, whether or not the load forecast was at one-and-a-half percent or 3 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So would it be fair then to say that the statement at the beginning of this interrogatory response, "The principal driver behind all new positions proposed is the projected customer growth of approximately 15 percent from 2014 to the end of the rate period in 2019", is incorrect?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, you said in response to the clarification at the beginning of today's discussions -- and I think you mentioned it to me when I asked you about the 2012 actuals -- you mentioned how load growth didn't materialize as you had expected, and you pushed off hiring some new employees.


Did I understand that correctly?


MR. MARTIN:  No, we didn't push off hiring new employees.  It was more a case of taking, I guess, advantage of turnover employees.


So we took some additional lead time in order to replace certain -- so we basically, for short periods of time, we were able to sustain the operations without replace he can those positions immediately.

In the load growth, let's just to clarify, because I think it is important and maybe addresses our sensitivity around the load forecast, the load forecast that we actually expected to occur did occur.

And it is our judgement, it was our -- we accepted or we conceded to increase that load growth as part of our settlement agreement.  That's the part of the load forecast that in fact didn't materialize, and effectively cost us half a million a year, roughly, $400,000 a year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about retirements.  If I could ask you to turn to page -- go back a little bit.  I apologize, I'm out of order.


If I could ask you to go to page 8?  You briefly went over this question with Ms. Girvan, and what I understand from the statement, "The expectation is this application is most retirements will occur on eligibility."

So to my understanding is when a person becomes eligible to retire, you forecasted that is when they will retire for the purposes of hiring replacements, or preparing when you need to hire, the lead time to hire if it is positions that require an overlap.


Am I correct about that?

MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.  So other than linemen, we basically budget for a one-to-one.


So in the event that that individual doesn't retire when scheduled, then the cost is there.  In the event the person does retire, we replace that cost on a one-to-one basis, on an equivalent basis.


So that is the concept we provide.  So we haven't built any incremental expense in, in the event that we bring people in early to mirror these positions.  But nor do we estimate any savings related to a gap between when the person retires and when the new person comes on board.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  For the linemen, you are hiring the apprentices on the basis of the lead time you will need for the underlying, if I could call it, employee to retire on their eligibility date?

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.  So we have identified four linemen apprentices to be hired, one in 2015 -- actually there was one in 2014.  One in 2015 and two in 2016, I believe.

I shouldn't say that.  I should let David confirm the details.


MR. SAVAGE:  We hired one in 2014, and we have already hired one in 2015 with one more to be hired.


MR. MARTIN:  In 2015, then there is one in 2016 or two?  Sorry.

So we have four to five linemen, apprentice linemen that we have budgeted for a six-month overlap period of time.  They're the -- that's the one position that we have, in fact, provided for some overlap and it dovetails with our philosophy to bring in younger folks at an apprentice level who are replacing trades folks, and that mirroring is what we built in.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to confirm the factual matter.


For the linemen, the date that you are projecting the retirement is on their eligibility date?


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  And our experience is -- with linemen is that generally speaking they do retire on or close to or earlier than their expected retirement date.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask you to turn to page 9.  This was a Consumers Council interrogatory, and in part the interrogatory asked you from 2010 to 2014 how many employees were eligible to retire out of that number, how many did actually retire.  And the response says in 2011 one employee was eligible to retire in 2011 and did so.  In 2014, six employees became eligible to retire, and none have retired.


So it seems to me people don't retire on their eligibility date.


MR. MARTIN:  Correct.  And let's -- if we look at those, we don't have any incremental costs associated with those folks that haven't.  Again, remember, other than the linemen we don't budget for any incremental expense.  Either the person is retained and stays on and doesn't retire, in which case the cost needs to be budgeted, or alternatively they retire and we replace them and, therefore, the cost needs to be budgeted.


So in the case of these six employees, it is not a case of -- we do expect that in some cases the employees will not retire on their eligibility date, but I think we factored that in properly.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But not for the linemen.


MR. MARTIN:  Not for linemen.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Based on this response -- this is the history we have from the past five years -- it seems to me one of seven employees -- and I don't know who they are -- one of the seven employees retire on their eligibility date.


So from that, how can you help me understand why then having all of your linemen retire on their eligibility date is a reasonable conclusion to draw?


MR. MARTIN:  So back -- going back to 2014.  We have hired one employee, one lineman.  So again, if we have -- if...


It is subject to change.  So if -- if in fact we -- if in fact the individual doesn't retire or we're not aware if they're retired, there is a potential for incremental cost, if we bring on -- if we bring on the apprentice.


In the case of this, the linemen, so if I just go back to this historical number, currently we have one lineman apprentice who is on-board, and the associated retiree -- are they retired?  Or are they about to?


MR. SAVAGE:  Of those six, only one was a lineman that had eligibility to retire.  He's scheduled to retire this year.  He hasn't retired yet.


MR. MARTIN:  So we have -- we don't -- we're -- our position is that he's going to retire.  So of the six, there's one lineman.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But he didn't retire on his eligibility date?


MR. MARTIN:  He's not eligible yet.  He is eligible sometime this year.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the last question I have on staffing, the last small area --


DR. ELSAYED:  I just have -- just a clarification on that last question.  Out of the 20 that you have indicated would be eligible to retire during the plan period, how many of those are linemen?


MR. MARTIN:  I believe it is --


MR. SAVAGE:  Six.


DR. ELSAYED:  Six of the 20?


MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.


DR. ELSAYED:  And you have budgeted for the overlap for those six?


MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding -- and I think this was asked a couple of ways, but I just want to ask it directly -- other parties had asked you.


You're not forecasting from 2015 to 2019 any vacancies in positions?  Unplanned -- I mean, sorry, any vacancies in any positions?  You have not built in that --


MR. MARTIN:  I think unplanned is actually a fair term.  We have not provided for any sort of unplanned vacancy, yes, that's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you haven't planned for anyone to be on -- I'm hoping that you're correct -- no one is on long-term disability from --


MR. MARTIN:  We have not.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So is it reasonable -- help me understand how a company that has 80, 85 employees, at any given time there will not be a vacancy or an unplanned vacancy.


MR. MARTIN:  There is a potential for vacancies.  We have not budgeted for vacancies.  Our history tells us that in some years there are and in some years there aren't.


We don't have a steady track record.  But I do admit, there is a potential for turnover and vacancies in the five-year plan.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I would like to move on to capital, talk about the capital budget.  I want to follow up on some questions that Member Elsayed asked at the end of panel 1.  He talked about the capital planning process.


And one thing I didn't hear from the panel in determining -- the witness panel in answering about the capital planning process, I didn't hear anything about where rate impacts come into it.


Can you explain where rate impacts factor into your capital planning process?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. MARTIN:  Our capital planning process is -- we have to keep in mind, we're a fairly small utility.  We typically -- the capital projects that we identify...


It's not a case of where you may have -- in a larger utility you may -- you've got this funnel of projects that are taking place that then have to be funnelled through asset condition assessment programs, et cetera.  It's a fairly sophisticated requirement.


In our case, most of the projects that we identify to begin with, basically they don't start with this broad funnel.  It starts with projects that are typically identified because there's a need.  That then becomes supported by a third-party asset condition assessment.


So to the extent that we have identified projects if the asset condition assessment did not support those, then that would, in fact, be taken into account.


We do run our projects through an asset condition model.  It was pointed out that a number of the projects or most of the projects tend to cluster in the -- tend to cluster in the "needs to be done soon" category, but that is really a function of the projects we identified to begin with.


So it is fair to -- so once we have identified those projects, and we develop them, it becomes -- those capital projects become -- they're required.


The impact on rates does become a function of that, but it is not -- it's really done through the budgeting process.  So in other words, if we can challenge those projects -- so Ivano mentioned yesterday that in certain circumstances there's business cases that are produced.  There's a process that takes place where these projects are challenged.  They're not just all accepted kind of at face value, but there is not a direct step whereby we eliminate projects that have -- have been identified as being required.  We don't take the step to eliminate those projects to preserve rates.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me just directionally at a high level, if your load forecast will be less than you, at the 3 percent for 2016 to 2019, directionally rates will be higher than your forecast?


MR. MARTIN:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I want to understand from your previous answer, if that ends up happening -- so rates are going to go up -- is there a point where you say, okay, we had these following things we were going to do, and this is the capital plan, but because rates are going up we are going to need to defer some of that just to -- lower rates than they would have been if we had done all of those projects.  Is that going to happen?


MR. MARTIN:  If -- so let me take the first shot at it, conceptually.  You can then....


So in the controllable asset category -- so again we have to be -- we have to be mindful of the fact that we've got -- we really have three buckets, or I'm saying three buckets of capital expenditures.


One bucket basically is coming from third-party influences.  If the city's expectations and the development plans and the development activities require us to build certain infrastructure, we have to build that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me just short-circuit.  Let's talk about the controllable assets.


MR. MARTIN:  Okay.  So in the controllable assets, we have talked about -- we have built in incentive mechanisms around some of these controllable -- in the event that we defer some of these -- actually, I might be wrong.


[Witness panel confers]

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  So maybe I can help Mr. Martin out.  In terms of the planning process, I mean we describe it -- we describe it as a technical need first, in terms of the asset focus.

So we pretty much do the condition assessment, risk profile, which sets prioritization and, you know, in there is what I would call the hopper of work that needs to be done.

That takes care of the system and sort of the reliability side.

It has to be balanced out against two parts, one of which you describe as rates.  So there is this notion that in the backdrop, if we do a certain amount of work there is a rate impact attached to it.

The other balancing act is the work resource, the work management that is required to actually undertake the work.

And so that first pass, as part of an iterative process, we go through and sort of adjust the requirements, either in time or in whole -- so a project gets deferred, or gets spread out, or the scope changes -- and that iterative process is done as part of a refinement that balances out system need, consumer rate impact, and what can be delivered physically in terms of, you know, work logistics.

So that kind of determines the package from that standpoint.

So from your rates question, it does factor in as part of an iterative optimization process, along with again the work delivery package that goes with it.

Mr. Martin was alluding to, well, in our submission for the incentive aspect, we're trying to mitigate the impact of rates by looking for some innovative creative ways to say, can we reduce the cost of these projects.

If they're necessary and our initial approach is to spend, you know, a like for like or X number of dollars to replace what's there, is there a way to attack this in a different way -- maybe taking on a little more risk, but also attaching a reward and that reward gets split between the consumer and the company.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's a different issue.  I asked -- I am not asking if you are going to be able to do work cheaper, which is what the incentive in a sense is.

I'm asking -- somehow the load drops to 1.5 over the next few years at 3 percent, as the load forecast states now.

My understanding is you're not seeking to then say, well, we may need to defer some renewal projects, because the rate increases are going up and we need to mitigate against that.

You are not planning to do any of that?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No, we're not planning to do that after the fact, no.  Because that has essentially been done at the front end, and our best forecast of, again, load impacts, plans, have been set in motion.

So we have essentially set the plan forward, as best we can today.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask you to turn to page number 12 in our compendium?  This is interrogatory 2-GOCC-3, and in part (a) I had asked you:

"Please provide an explanation as to why Oshawa PUC has consistently under-spent on capital relative to its forecast capital spending."

The response says:  "OPUCN has underspent on capital relative to its forecast due to the following factors," and it lists three.  I want to talk about the first three with you.

The first is "detailed design phase identified savings".  Can you briefly explain that?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  What you're seeing in the initial phase is what we call a scoping package.

So that package determines the size of the job, the high-level parameters, number of pieces of equipment to be replaced, and there is an assumption that most equipment needs to be replaced.

When you get to the detail design phase, you can either reroute the line, you can determine there are some pieces that can be saved, and so that would drive a cost savings.

In the detail design phase of the job, we tend to look for ways to, you know, delineate what needs to be done and come up with a level of engineered savings, if I can call them that.

So that would identify some level of savings and in some cases, when you get to underground plants, there is a difference between overhead and underground, and this is where your conflicts start to come in with underground plant where you have to maybe reroute the line and it tends to drive costs up.

So there are unknowns in underground more so than so than there are in overhead.  But in most cases, we are looking to engineer out any savings that we can.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So please, for the previous period in time on -- at a high level on average, when you got to the detailed design, you were able to save some money?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now let me ask you about the 2015 to 2019 forecast.  Are you budgeting in that based on what you -- you started with a high level assumption, but you know now there is going to be some sort of savings.  Did you budget that?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  What we do is we then refine our estimating routines to incorporate those savings as they come forward.  So again, there is a bit of an efficiency cycle that takes place where future forecasts already incorporate things we have uncovered as typical savings that we can achieve.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you haven't included any further efficiencies savings that you can identify today, but that may occur?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about the second thing; this is negotiated savings with its external suppliers.

I assume you were able to negotiate savings with external suppliers, and that lowered the costs from what you had expected?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.  There are different -- from the contracting community side, what is important to them is -- they're willing to pass along a savings to us, if we can accommodate their needs in driving their costs down.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And for 2015-2019, have you forecasted additional negotiated savings with external suppliers that may occur -- that may occur during that term plan?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We haven't identified it as of yet.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the third bullet point is "improved project management during construction and commissioning phases".  I assume that means you had better project management than you had assumed in the forecast?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Again for 2015-2019, are you forecasting some level of increased project management?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No.  Other than the factor that we build into the new estimates anything that we believe is in a permanent savings side to update our costs going forward.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So these three things -- I would categorize -- at a high level, these are productivity and efficiency improvements in the capital process.  Am I correct?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you haven't built in further efficiency and productivity savings going forward?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Other than the fact that if they are -- if they are residual savings that continue to go forward, they are built into future estimates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  They're not further things --


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Not above and beyond that, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  I would like to quickly talk about the Enfield transmission station.

Am I correct this is the largest single capital project -- you're not doing it specifically, but that you have to pay a portion of?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it is at $13.5 million; am I correct about that?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is that at a high level, the purpose of the transformer stations is that due to projected load growth in Oshawa and other distributors, there is a need for transmission relief at Wilson and Thornton transmission stations, that the regional planning process found building a new transformer station would be the correct --


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.  The regional planning process identified that need.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is your payment is through a capital contribution to Hydro One?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it’s my understanding you are responsible for 50 percent of the transmission costs?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  50 percent of the station capacity as allocated for Oshawa's growth, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Who is responsible for the other 50 percent?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Hydro One.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  They're responsible for the 50 percent, and it’s not Whitby or other distributors in the area?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No, it is not Whitby and it -- my understanding is they're envisioning the growth in the Clarington area.  Some of that could be Veridian customers, but I think the majority is Hydro One.

Because it will run through Hydro One's territory to service that area, they would build in the capacity and if they have to recover from Veridian to serve specific Veridian loads outside of the Hydro One territory, they will do that.  So Hydro One is covering that aspect.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding at a high level is you have to pay 50 percent of the total cost.  And it is being constructed, or under the management of the construction of a third party by Hydro One; correct?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And whatever the resulting amount is, higher or lower, you are going to be responsible for the 50 percent; am I correct?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.  We're working on that capital contribution component agreement with Hydro One right now.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But that is generally; you don't control what the final cost is?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We don't necessarily, but I think we have a hand in understanding -- since we have a hand in paying, we do have a directional aspect in understanding how they're spending that money.  And if we believe there is a better way to do that, we will -- we will discuss with Hydro One what the best approach would be, in terms of mitigating costs for the entire rate base that is paying for that project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to understand from a regulatory perspective, though.  When is the Board determining that the amount -- putting aside the need, but the amount is a prudent amount?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Today.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What on the record do we have that explains why the $13.5 million -- 50 percent, so I assume $27 million for the full transmission station, is an appropriate amount -- sorry for a transformer station?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, what -- if this Board is determining now that the $13.5 million is an appropriate amount, what on the record is there that shows that a transformer station of $27 million -- which will be the full cost -- is an appropriate cost for a transformer station, and that it shouldn't, you know, shouldn't be lower?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I would suggest that the historical costs of building a station driven by Hydro One factor into that.

So my sense would be, Hydro One has appeared in front of the Board in the past to discuss transmission station build, expansion, spend, in terms of a capital project, and those costs were tested in those previous applications.

I also believe that other utilities have come forward with their build costs for stations as well and are informed as to what those typical costs could be for a greenfield-type station.

Our view is it is in line, in terms of it appears to be reasonable in comparison to the same types of numbers, and it is actually Hydro One's estimate that we would have to accept and use, and that's what we've done here.

The documents we have submitted are a part of the regional planning process where the estimates have been crafted.  They're not at the detailed design stage yet, because that design has not been incorporated, but the estimates will be refined at that point as the project continues.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But besides your testimony just right now, all we have is essentially the number.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me briefly ask you about the MS9 station.  This was discussed yesterday.

Am I correct that the MS9 is supposed to go in-service in 2018?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that the purpose of the MS9 is to have additional capacity ready for 2019?  That's when you need it by?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there is a number of questions yesterday that asked you about, if your load forecast changes will this change the need or the timing of the MS9.

My understanding is your response was, no, because the demand is still going to be the same.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How do you know, today, that the demand in 2019 will not change based on load or customer changes that may or may not occur in the next four years?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I believe, going back to review that response, we had said:  If the -- if the growth shrinks to below 1 percent or at zero, we likely could defer the expansion, but the existing capacity is at its limit today, that any incremental growth, let's say greater than 1 percent or in that 1 percent region, will drive the need to actually build the station, to actually supply that load.

So in other words, it's not practical for us to assume zero load growth or less than 1 percent when we're on an incline from two parts.  Historically if you look at our 2013, our growth was 1 percent.  2014 it was 1.4 percent.  Our growth this year is 1.5 year to date.  Our projected number of applications coming through the funnel we described as driving that increase, still driving that growth in customer base, albeit a little late starting this year, but looking forward we can see those connections coming through.

So for practical purposes it still drives the need for MS9.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But just to clarify that.  Any load less than -- any load greater than 1 percent on average, I guess, between now and 2019 will require the MS9 station in 2019?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  2018-2019, correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is not just a need.  It is also the timing remains the same?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  From our view it's -- we are using as little reserve capacity that is remaining, we're using it up for any connections that come in in the interim.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I would like to just briefly talk about net new customer connections.  There was a discussion yesterday with Mr. Aiken about how you adjusted the 2015 load forecast in the June 23rd update, but you made no new -- you did not adjust the new connections as part of the capital forecast.  Am I correct?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Sorry, can you repeat that question again?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There was a discussion yesterday with Mr. Aiken about the net new customer connections.  You adjusted the forecast for -- you adjusted your load forecast for 2015, but you didn't adjust the net new connection forecast.  Am I correct?

MR. MARTIN:  That's correct, we have not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is that generally you thought that the change would have an immaterial effect on the customer connection costs.

MR. MARTIN:  We believe it will be immaterial, but we also have a mechanism in place to capture the variances, et cetera.

We have a little bit more perspective.  Yesterday I didn't have the numbers in the top of my head.  So in terms of framing the materiality, the metering costs and connection costs -- so the capital connection costs and metering costs net is less than a million dollars a year.  But it is close to a million dollars a year, so in the $900,000 range.

That's the -- that ties in with the capital planning process that is relative to the load growth, et cetera -- the load growth, et cetera.  So --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you still think it is immaterial  -- or you think it will be immaterial?

MR. MARTIN:  No.  I'm not -- so yesterday we said it was immaterial.  But I didn't have the information to determine exactly kind of where we were sitting.

So if we put it in -- so let me just back up.  When we put the June update in, we adjusted the load, but not the customer connections.

We felt at the time that, given -- the starting point is a million dollars a year, in capital.  So again, we're talking probably about $60,000 of revenue, if you distil it down, a year.

So if we're talking -- if we can simply on a linear basis divide that in half because the load is actually 1.5 versus 3 percent, then again we're probably talking about somewhere in the neighbourhood of $30,000 a year of revenue.

Having said that, we do have a variance account that would collect those differences if in fact they materialize.  And while that doesn't do anything in the current plan term, it would be repaid to the customers.

Ivano also mentioned that it's not quite a linear equation, in terms of the service costs and metering costs, et cetera.  It is not completely linear to that load growth -- to the, sorry, connection account growth.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There's an undertaking that has already been asked for by Ms. Lea essentially on the basis, if you didn't have the adjustment account to deal with the load forecast, how would your -- what load forecast would you -- what load forecast would you want essentially built in?

And we started the day with Mr. Mondrow talking about the look into that, that scenario, and they will make changes.  I will ask -- and it doesn't have to be a formal undertaking, it could just be added to that -- that one of the things that you're updating is the new net connection costs for the term of the plan under that scenario.

MR. MARTIN:  We will do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, thank you very much.

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, I think the undertaking at the time, as I understand it, was to comment on -- that particular undertaking was in the event that the Board did not approve any annual adjustments or updates to rates, what load forecast would Oshawa propose.

So that is the undertaking that we're responding to in that respect.

A separate undertaking was to consider and comment on the idea of a mid-term review in lieu of the annual adjustments, which is a much broader question, and so we will consider and comment on that.  I am not sure how broad that comment is going to be.

If Oshawa feels that either of those scenarios requires an updating of the net new connection costs forecast, then they will provide that update.  I am not sure if that is what you're asking or if you are asking for something more.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, then maybe it should be a new undertaking.  I'm asking under the scenario of what load forecast would you live with if there was no adjustment.  What is the change in the new net connection cost?

MR. MONDROW:  If any.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, we know there is -- there is an amount already for 2015.

MR. MARTIN:  Well --


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry.  Sorry, just one minute.  Let me clarify.

So -- sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, I am not meaning to be obstreperous about this.  I thought you were asking what update would they forecast for net new connection cost, as opposed to what would be the change in net new condition costs, and maybe it is the same thing and maybe it is not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We can use your wording.  I think it's the same thing, but...

MR. MONDROW:  Why don't we, in responding to those undertakings, why don't we agree to comment on whether there should -- in either of those scenarios -- be an update to net new connection costs, and if not, why not.  Would that provide the information you are seeking?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No.  There's an undertaking where my understanding is you are going to provide some load forecast based on the scenario where you do not make -- there's no adjustment.

I am trying to understand, if that load forecast is adopted, what the change in the net new connection costs are.

We know, for at least 2015 while there was no update made, there is a relationship.

MR. MONDROW:  So what the expected change would be in net new conditions?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  If I can add.  I mean, I'm sort of listening to all of the questions coming in.  There is a series of questions around costs related to load, new load connections, which I thought we had filed some materials that say -- I thought we were trying to be as clear as we can that the prospective work that we check with, through the funnelling process, is still in the hopper.

It is flowing through, albeit a bit slower than what we thought, and it could be part of this ramp-up process by which the 407 gets a little bit delayed, so -- eventually, that work is going to flow through.  And we think it is still going to flow through in this application.

So we don't think that slow rate is reflective of how it is going to end up at the end of the period.

We believe it will catch up and still -- and at the total number of new customers that we expect to connect.

Inasmuch that when we talk about load growth and how we set rates in terms of recovery, yes, I think there's been some good lines of questions that are raised at, look, if it hasn't set up -- if the load and volumetric forecast has not materialized as we expected, it will have an impact on the rates and recovery mechanisms.

And so Mr. Martin talks about the true-up mechanisms and that's where we look, and we look to that mechanism to be able to deal with that revenue piece.

But as far as the work is concerned from the engineering and operating side, we still believe that number of connections to come up -- again, we tried to show that with the evidence -- that is still what we're forecasting.  We believe that is coming through.  Albeit a little slow at the front end of this curve, it is building momentum to carry out the final number the same way.

So while I can shift those costs around, at the end of the period they will all be there is our expectation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you agree with me if you shift costs to later years, that has a revenue requirement impact?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I would like to understand those numbers as it affects any load forecast.

MS. LEA:  Can I just clarify what is happening, then?

It was undertaking 2.7 yesterday, which was to provide a load forecast update presuming no adjustments, no annual adjustments for all classes.

Is that undertaking being added to, or are we having a new one?

MR. MONDROW:  Can I comment, Madam Chair?  My agreement with Mr. Rubenstein was to add to that undertaking, to address the expected change in net new connection costs arising from that load forecast that we were -- that we have undertaken to provide in response to J2.7.  So stopping there, I am fine with that.

And then Mr. Rubenstein just, I think, talked about revenue requirement impacts.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I didn't --


MR. MONDROW:  So we're stopping prior to that?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What you said is what my undertaking was.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  I think we are in agreement, that's fine.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  So we will address, in response to J2.7, expected change in net new connection costs associated with the load forecast to be provided in response.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.7:   to address, in response to J2.7, expected change in net new connection costs associated with the load forecast to be provided in response

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I have two brief remaining areas.

MS. DUFF:  How much left of your cross-examination do you have?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Ten minutes at most.

MS. DUFF:  That's fine.  We will leave the two undertakings at that.  I have to admit I was -- I am a bit confused about the layer upon which we are now drilling down this scenario, and how far it is getting down.

So I would like to confer with my Panel members during the break, and we will talk about that.  But I think I understand the commitment that you have made to address the two questions to date.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Please proceed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  During the re-examination of panel 1, Mr. Mondrow asked Mr. Mahajan -- and this is at page 103 of yesterday's transcript, but I don't think you need to bring it up -- he asked what did he mean by a council briefing, he had mentioned in response to a question of mine about customer engagement.

Mr. Mahajan replied that:

"So at the city council, there was a request made by one of the concerned groups of residence as to -- we heard a lot about momentary outages. So we had a briefing to explain how the momentary outages will be addressed by Ottawa."

Mr. Martin, do you recall that?

MR. MARTIN:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there a written presentation of that briefing that you can provide?

MR. MARTIN:  I wasn't involved in the council meeting, nor in the preparation for it.  It was actually our former vice president of operations and Mr. Mahajan.

I believe there's a -- there was a document required by council, but I -- I could be mixing up the meetings.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, could I ask you to undertake to see if there is a document and produce it, if you have it?

MR. MARTIN:  We can.

MR. MONDROW:  I am happy to take the undertaking to see if there is a document.  My limited experience with council documents is they are not always public.  In fact, they're often not public.

So we will certainly undertake to see if --


MR. MARTIN:  I'm not sure.

MR. MONDROW:  -- if Oshawa is aware of whether there is one.  If they are aware there is one and they can produce it, we will produce it.  And if they can't produce it, we will explain why.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  That would be undertaking J3.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  to provide a written presentation of the briefing to city council


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me explain to you why I am interested.

I couldn't find -- my understanding was the discussion was regarding customer engagement and this was one thing that you were responding to customers.

I couldn't find a single reference in the distribution plan to anything about momentary outages.  So I am trying to understand how that related to anything you are doing from 2015 to 2019.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Well, inasmuch that the momentary outages are caused by the different types of equipment failure, animal contacts, foreign interference, those aspects, and items in the plan that deal with modernizing the infrastructure as well, that we talked about.  I think Ms. Girvan asked questions around grid modernization and automatic switches.

That is all aimed at contributing to the reduction in momentaries.

So inasmuch that they're not specifically aimed at momentaries as a reason to implement, it is covered off with the other aspects of what we're doing, so that momentaries will be resolved because of it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there is no specific program in place for 2015 to 2019 to deal with momentary outages?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct, in terms of being able to deal with that.

There is one specific recalibration of relays that we have under taken a study, and we are implementing that as we go through.  And again, the neutral reactors will actually address that as well.

So again, not directly specifically from momentaries as a delineated plan, no, but it is covered off in the investments, in the DSP, that it will have an effect to reduce momentaries.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Final area; I just want to talk about the metric you proposed at the beginning of the hearing -- or Oshawa proposed at the beginning of the hearing on Tuesday.

Since that was the first time we heard about it, I want to properly understand it.

My understanding of the purpose of the metric was to get at concerns you heard during the discovery process about being able to measure outcomes of your proposed capital plan.

Am I correct?  At a high level, that is what your plan is?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the way you are going to do that is you're going to measure against a set target of the number of reductions of outages caused by animal contact and failed porcelain insulators and switches.  Am I correct?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think this is on the second page of the document, or at the end of the first page and the second page, the one on the screen.

And how you are going to do that is it will be based on a 36-month rolling average with the average of 2012, 2013, 2014 as the base?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You are going to measure that at 2017, 2018, 2019.  So are you only going to measure it, or only provide it to parties at the end of the term?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We will use a sliding 36-month, and I think the outcome will be measured at that point.  But we will have a tracking mechanism all along.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Will you be reporting to -- in your annual updates or filings, are you going to be reporting that every year where we are on the metric?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We can.  We will have the data.  If it's important enough to present out at the updates, we can do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is, if you make or miss the target at the end of 2019, there is no consequences.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask you to turn to page 20 of the compendium, and on to page 21.  This is an excerpt from the evidence.

If we go on to page 21, the first paragraph under the chart, it says the following:
"In recent years, outages were primarily due to defective equipment (identified as defective porcelain insulators and switches) or foreign interference (squirrel contact)."

Stopping there, that is what we're talking about?  It is those porcelain switches, and that's the animal contact we're talking about?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It goes on to say:
"Consequently in 2013, OPUCN completed installation of animal guards."

So am I correct that you have installed all of the animal guards?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then it says:

"OPUCN also implemented a two-year program to replace all porcelain insulators and switches with polymer type units.  This has resulted in a major reduction in outages specific to the causes and hence to the overall number of outages."

If we can just turn over to page 23, this is another excerpt from the evidence.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it says, in the last sentence here:

"A two-year program to replace most of the porcelain insulators and switches with polymer type units has been completed."

Do you see that?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Um....

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It's the last sentence on the first paragraph, page 23.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It would seem to me you have done all the capital work for this metric already.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I would say it's not all of the work that's completed on it.  We had a two-year program addressing the worst-case scenarios where most of the events were occurring, and I think we have done a pretty good job eliminating those issues on those particular locations.  But in particular with the insulators -- the switch and insulator replacement program, there are more sites to be done, and we're still seeing the effects of degrading equipment on those feeders.

And with the animal guards we had just put the caps on the primary bushing of the transformers.  What's actually happening now, and we're seeing the effects in 2015, is we did not insulate the drop leads from the switch or put caps on the lightning arresters in the same location and we did not eliminate the metal guards where the switch mounting brackets are on.  And that's where we're experiencing the contacts now.

So they're no longer on the transformer bushing top, but they're coming in around live other connections in and around the transformer bushings.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But most of the porcelain insulator and switches have been replaced?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  I would say a good portion of the insulators.  Not the switches.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And most of the animal guards have been installed?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  They have been installed on all the transformer primary bushings, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So could you explain to me then how this is really a metric about capital you are going to be spending from 2015 to 2019, if this really seems like you have done most of the work already?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Well, in the previous discussion, in terms of the 2008 to 2012, we actually directed a specific program at that particular asset class to those causes, and I think we've demonstrated there's been some improvement.

What we're looking -- what we're seeing today -- at that point it was -- well, what we had tried to do was reflect the portion of outages is about about 60 percent of causes of events were driven by those two particular cause codes or sub-cause, root cause codes.

Today, and sitting in 2015, it is climbing up to over 45 percent.  So it seemed to have gone down, but it is now coming back around again.  So I don't think we got to the stage where we believe we're -- we can be as effective as we can with eliminating those types of events.  They still are a majority of our events by two causes, and we still think there is more effort to be applied there.

The particular effort out of the DSP is not a directed program per se, but the renewal is addressing those particular issues that I talked about, the further insulated drop leads and caps on arresters and brackets for transformer locations, as well as replacement of the switches.

There's about 25 kilometres proposed in our renewal program to be replaced, and that will take care of some of the worst of the worst areas we're experiencing, so that is one outcome that we would expect as a result of that investment, plus on the reactive side there are dollars allocated to reacting to certain emerging issue -- emerging issues related to these two causes that we're going to direct some funding at.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Of the amount of work you still have to do then for this to deal with these two issues from 2015 to 2019, are you able to ballpark for me, what is the actual dollars we're looking at to finish the animal guards on the new assets and to replace the remaining porcelain insulators and switches?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We're not going to do the entire system, and there will still be gaps there, but we expect to address them -- by this investment, if we achieve the results we expect at less than 62, we're in a position where it's now about 30 percent of our problems, and then we will take a look at it from there, whether -- through another directed effort where we can eliminate it all.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My question is simply, of 2015 to 2019 capital spending, can you ballpark to me what the dollars are that we're talking about that relates to solving these problems?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No, I can't.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are we talking -- give me an order of magnitude.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I would say in the 25 million.  I would say you're in the million-dollar range for sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So it is about 1/25th of the program.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Maybe a little more, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.  Before we break, I just wanted to get everyone's estimate of the time remaining.  I think we should be in line to finish today.  Mr. Stoll?

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  I don't expect I will need the full hour.

MS. DUFF:  That's fine.  Mr. Janigan?

MR. JANIGAN:  My expectation is the same as Mr. Stoll's.

MS. DUFF:  Great.

MS. LEA:  And Madam Chair, I have one question arising from what was filed last night with respect to this reporting.  If I can ask it now, it will be done.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  So with respect to the item that you filed last night with respect to the metrics, are you proposing to report annually on your success or at the end of the term?

MR. MONDROW:  I think that question was just asked, Ms. Lea --


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry.

MR. MONDROW:  -- I apologize, by Mr. Rubenstein, and I --


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry.

MR. MONDROW:  -- think the answer is they would be willing to report annually on a 36-month rolling calculation.

MS. LEA:  Right.  Okay.  It was the 36 months' rolling calculation I wanted to understand.  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  That was my understanding.  We should, I guess, rather than giving evidence ask for the witnesses, and you feel free to correct me.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, great.  We will break for -- why don't we get -- at two o'clock, and then we will reconvene the hearing then.  Thank you very much.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:56 p.m.

-- On resuming at 2:00 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Thank you, everyone, for being punctual.

I just wanted to address first the change to the schedule going forward and, on the record, for those people that are reading it, correcting or making adjustments I guess to Procedural Order No. 4.

So on page 2 of Procedural Order No. 4, they were, "The Board orders that...", and the dates that are going to change are Wednesday, July 8th, 12:30; no longer will that be the time for argument in-chief.

Thursday, July 9th; no longer will that be the time for Board Staff or any intervenor to give their oral argument.

Wednesday, July 15th will not be the day for written argument of intervenors, and Friday, July 24th, will not be the day for reply argument.

Instead, as we discussed earlier today, July 9th at 10:30 will be a continuation of this oral hearing, in which the scope of the discussion and questions will be the transcript undertakings from this proceeding.

The Panel will be in attendance and the session will be transcribed.

July 14th will be the date for written argument in-chief, July 17th will be the date for OEB Staff written submissions, and July 24th will be the date for written submissions from other intervenors.

Did we discuss a date for subsequent reply argument, Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  We did not, Madam Chair.  I am just going to get a calendar up, if you will give me one moment.

So if the intervenors file their arguments on the 24th, that's a Friday.  Two weeks hence would be August 7th, which is also a Friday.

If the Board is amenable, then I would propose to file reply on August 10th, which is the subsequent Monday.

MS. DUFF:  Do you require two weeks?

MR. MONDROW:  I anticipate I may require two weeks.  I can leave that with the Panel to consider, if you prefer.

MS. DUFF:  I also realize there are a number of other proceedings happening at the Board this summer, and people are working around vacation schedules.

MR. MONDROW:  I haven't even counted any of that, actually.

MS. DUFF:  Given you haven't discussed that with your client, perhaps you can discuss the date of August 10th, and we will finalize that later.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much, I appreciate that.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Stoll, you have been waiting patiently.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, just before Mr. Stoll –

MS. DUFF:  Oh, sorry.  I gave you a second and --


[Laughter]

MR. MONDROW:  I didn't use that second very wisely.  Just before Mr. Stoll commences, I believe Mr. Savage had engaged in a discussion with member Elsayed late yesterday about a proportion of unionized to non-unionized employees, and provided a figure he’s indicated he would like to address and, I think, correct.

MR. SAVAGE:  I mentioned 60 percent off the top of my head.  The actual is 75 percent for the union proportion.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, that's all.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Stoll.

MR. STOLL:  Thank you very much.

MR. STOLL:  There are a couple of things.  I had two sheets of paper that I had filed on RESS a couple of days ago and distributed to the parties.  And I believe Mr. Thiessen is handing it up now.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. STOLL:  And --


MS. DUFF:  They are stapled together as one?

MR. STOLL:  We can deal with them as one.  I am quite happy to, if we could mark them as an exhibit.

MS. LEA:  K3.2, please. 

EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  Document Aiding Cross-Examination on Long Term Debt

MR. STOLL:  Thank you very much.  I will come back to those in a few minutes, but just so that housekeeping is out of the way --


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Madam Chair, if you could give me one moment?  I believe the witnesses have just marked the wrong document.  I just want to make sure they've got it.

MR. STOLL:  It's this one.

MR. SAVAGE:  Oh, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.
Cross-examination by Mr. Stoll:


MR. STOLL:  Before we broke for lunch or just when we did, I gave Mr. Mondrow a list of a couple of the documents that I would be referring to electronically.

I understand cost allocation wasn't going to be an issue, and I am not intending to ask questions about the substance very much.  But there are just one or two questions I would like to ask based on a couple of things that happened in the recent filings of the cost allocation model.

I asked Mr. Mondrow if he could bring up the 2015 run, which is the -- okay, he has the June 23rd and we're in the right work sheet, which is the revenue to cost.

If we could go to column F, row 75, you will see a number, panel, of 110.9 percent.

And it is in a row called revenue to expenses status quo.  Could you just say what that number is?

MR. SAVAGE:  That is -- under the current rate structure, the rates being billed are 110 percent of the costs associated with that class.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And so -- and for the next column over, it's 166 percent?

MR. SAVAGE:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Now, if we could go to the May update for the same work sheet, and if we could just remember those numbers.  And it was the same cell references, the F75.

So you are seeing 101.99; do you see that reference?

MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  And then in the next column over you see 135, which was the 166 in the updated spreadsheet.

MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  So the question I have is:  With these numbers there is what I would characterize as a fairly significant shift in these ratios, and I understand you're not intending to adjust cost allocation annually in your proposal.  That's correct?

MR. SAVAGE:  That's correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Is there any concern that revenue-to-cost ratios could shift fairly significantly during the period of your proposal?

MR. SAVAGE:  I think what would likely -- the only thing I could think of really is if the change in customer numbers for that class was out of step with the change in the other classes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. SAVAGE:  So if you had a growth rate of 3 percent in this class and that was consistent with the other classes, there would be minimal effect here.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. SAVAGE:   It is only if it was 10 percent of this class, 3 percent on average.

MR. STOLL:  That's fine.  I am done with that sheet.

And since you mentioned the forecast, my particular client is concerned with the GS-greater-than-50 class.  And I believe you updated the forecast customer count for that rate class in your last go-round.

MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And my recollection is that's revised to 507, I think?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SAVAGE:  The 2019 number?

MR. STOLL:  No, for the 2015 number.

MR. SAVAGE:  Oh, 507, yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And do you know how many customers you have to date in that rate class?

MR. SAVAGE:  We ended the year, obviously, at 505.

MR. MARTIN:  Are you online?  Can you get the monthly revenue?

MR. SAVAGE:  I can get it to you in one second.

MR. STOLL:  I believe the 2014 was 505.

MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Or 503.  But what I was more interested in...

MR. SAVAGE:  Sorry, just a few more seconds.

It is 506 at the end of May.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. SAVAGE:  So my June number isn't updated yet.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And I believe you characterized the customer-count update as using a trend based on the first five months year to date for January to May, to update the 2015 customer count.

MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.

MR. STOLL:  Is that basically a flat-line trend?  Or is there a cyclical nature in the way your customers typically connect?

MR. MARTIN:  No.  All I -- what I did, actually, is just, I took the year-end number, the May number, and applied a trend formula to it and calculated the end number.

So what you're seeing, actually, is 507, but it could actually be 507.4 or something like that.  It's kind of maybe what it would end with.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. MARTIN:  That's what I do.

MR. MONDROW:  Is your microphone on?

MR. STOLL:  What kind of trend did you apply to that?  The mathematical description of the trend.

MR. MARTIN:  I don't know the mathematical formula.  I used the Excel trend formula.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That would be a linear.

MR. STOLL:  It's a linear?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  All right.  All right.  That's where I was trying to go.  Going back to your comment about the cost allocation, historically the GS-greater-than-50 class has shown some shrinkage in customer numbers.  Would you agree with that?  I...

MR. SAVAGE:  I can confirm in one second.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SAVAGE:  So, yes, we can confirm that.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  I am just wondering how confident you are in that that class will move in lock-step with the other growth numbers that you've forecasted.

MR. SAVAGE:  It's not moving exactly as the other classes are.  So it's -- the projections are based on its history.  2000 and -- you're right, it did show a decline historically, but that appears to have been reversing in 2014 and now in 2015.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. SAVAGE:  So...

MR. STOLL:  And you're expecting it to have a significant uptick for the remainder of the period, given your numbers?

MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.  In --


MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  All right.

MR. SAVAGE:  Sorry.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  All right.  If I could go to the sheet that Mr. Aiken was kind enough to provide in his Exhibit K1.4, page 22 of 24.

MR. SAVAGE:  Page 22?

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  It is the capital projects table, appendix 2AA.

MR. SAVAGE:  Okay.

MR. STOLL:  And hopefully a couple of these are just clarifications.

You had a discussion, I believe it was with Ms. Girvan, about the contribution -- the contributions for service expansions -- or, sorry, actually for the region and the city.  And I believe you said it was a formulaic approach.

Okay.  And it's my understanding that that would be the formula that's prescribed in the statutes?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  It is the public service and highways?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Traffic Act, yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, that's helpful.  So is it your intention that all of these contributions will be factored into your -- or updates or your analysis when you are providing either your annual update or your capital improvements?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  Inasmuch that we have new or current information, we will update these numbers as well.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  All right.  And just moving down to the Highway 407 extension, the plant relocation.  The difference you basically indicated was, let's say, facilities being provided for future use.  So they're being installed now because it is cheaper than installing them in the future?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So this would be, like, spare ductbanks, that type of...

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, okay.  But those ductbanks won't actually be in use?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  They will be in use, in the sense that the infrastructure is there, it is just they won't be housing cables at this stage, and they're available to be used.

MR. STOLL:  Is it your expectation they will be used during the five-year period?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No, it is not in our plans to actually pull the equipment through there.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And I wanted to go down -- I believe it was Ms. Girvan asked you about the pre-paid metering.  And if I understood your answer, it was that that would be an investment that would result in a reduction in bad debt expense?  Or that is hoped would reduce a bad debt expense?  Did I capture that correctly?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I believe you did.  I think it is -- the business case is predicated on the fact that it provides an alternative that isn't available today to people who can manage their costs and their spend without having to roll trucks to connect, reconnect, disconnect, collect, all those elements.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And do you have an idea, an approximation, on the amount of bad debt you anticipate not incurring as a result of this?  Or expenses?

MR. MARTIN:  We haven't estimated that.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. MARTIN:  Similarly, it was also targeted to reduce collection fees, et cetera, as well, which -- so there's a revenue impact to it, and there's a --


MR. STOLL:  There's two elements to it?

MR. MARTIN:  There's two elements to it.

MR. STOLL:  Right.

MR. MARTIN:  That is the intent of it.

MR. STOLL:  And I'm just wondering, have those components -- both the cost savings and the revenue impacts -- been incorporated into the 2017, 2018, and 2019 numbers?

MR. MARTIN:  No.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So I guess the question is, if you're asking ratepayers to spend the money on the capital, but you're also forecasting either revenue and/or reduced costs, would it not be fair that those would be reflected in the application as well?

MR. MARTIN:  We don't have any experience.  This is a pilot project, as Ivano had indicated.

We don't have sufficient experience with this kind of a program to determine to what level or degree that this would, in fact, have decreased the amount.

So we have not put anything in to accommodate this particular test period.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  But you had indicated you did a business case for this?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We did.  And we -- in looking forward in terms of collections and the complexity around that and safety of employees, what drives the business case is the expected amount of effort we would need to put in place to deal with delinquent accounts and collections and so on.

So the business case is sort of predicated on avoided costs that we would expect to ensure the safety of our employees and to deal with higher amounts, in terms of delinquencies, rather than the cost savings.  I think it is more on costs looking forward that would be increased to deal with this area of the business.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  In some cases, we would have to pay for security guards, or police escorts, or sending again sending two people to collect funds because they're high risk collection issues.  So we see that as cost additive and to deal with that, we're offering another alternative to allow people to avoid those situations.

MR. STOLL:  And I don't deny that those are all valid objectives.

What I was trying to assess is, have you priced into your numbers for 2017, 2018 and 2019 those savings --


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I wouldn't say they're savings.

MR. STOLL:  -- or cost avoidance?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  The cost avoidances, yes; we haven't increased the costs.

I would say the savings is kind of a red herring, in my estimation, because the staff is there.  We're not adding staff and we're not reducing staff.  We may redeploy staff to other activities.

So again from a labour side, the cost is actually there still.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  But I thought part of the answer to Ms. Girvan was that this was to avoid or reduce bad debt.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes, I don't know that -- I don't believe we factored the bad debt reduction in there.

MR. STOLL:  All right.  I just have one area of questions left and probably, much to everyone's disappointment, I will be going back to the long-term debt issue.

If I could ask you to pull up Exhibit K3.2, I am looking at the page where it is titled "Aid to Cross-examination", and then lists a series of utilities down the left-hand side.  Do you have that?

MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  And did you have a chance to review the information on this table?

MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And if you look at the column entitled "decision" -- and just to be clear, the fourth row, that's just related to North Bay Hydro and that is a filed settlement agreement.  It is not an accepted decision, so there is a slight mischaracterization in the heading of the title.

Would you agree that the long-term debt percentages there are below what you are proposing in your application?

MR. SAVAGE:  Well, two of them are pretty much equal. But having said that, one of the undertakings from yesterday asked us to adjust the 2015 debt rate, which we have done, and that comes now to 4.11 percent from 4.25. So that would put us in the middle of these four.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. SAVAGE:  But then our weighted debt rate for 2016 is 3.9 percent, and 3.96 for 2017.

MR. STOLL:  Right.

MR. SAVAGE:  So I think we're pretty close.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And are you proposing to use the 3.9 for your long-term debt component for the 2016 rates?

MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. SAVAGE:  We already have that incorporated.

MR. STOLL:  And does that have unfunded debt?  And if so, at what rate?

MR. SAVAGE:  2016 does not.

MR. STOLL:  There is no unfunded debt?

MR. SAVAGE:  No.  2017 and onwards has unfunded debt and it is at the current Board rate of -- a Board deemed rate of 4.77.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, all right.  And I believe I had an exchange with Mr. Martin and Mr. Mahajan about that, and I was going -- are you familiar with the Board's decision in London Hydro, EB-2008-0235, regarding the appropriate rate for embedded debt?

MR. SAVAGE:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  So I am going to interrupt, Madam Chair.  I am not familiar with the decision.  It was not brought to our attention before.  We've been around the block on this issue a number of times.

Oshawa is using the Board mandated deemed debt rate for unfunded long-term debt in later years.

I'm not sure where this is going, but I have a bit of a problem with now proposing a resolution in a Board decision that at least none of the witnesses nor I have had a look at.  I think the reference is problematic.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Stoll?

MR. STOLL:  Well, they have said this is Board policy and decision and they haven't provided a source.

I have just asked if they were aware of this decision.  We can deal with it in our argument.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  I have given my friend the reference, and he can expect I will be referring to the decision in argument.  And the page number is page 37.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And the second page of Exhibit K3.2, can you take a look at that?

And this is just a printout from the Infrastructure Ontario website providing lending rates for LDCs.  Are you familiar with this?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And I take it that for forecasting purposes, you don't agree that using Infrastructure Ontario is an appropriate resource; is that correct?

MR. MARTIN:  For funded, or unfunded?

MR. STOLL:  For unfunded.

MR. MARTIN:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I am going to interject again.  I believe the Board has a policy on this, which Oshawa is applying.  I don't know why that policy would be re-examined in the context of this application.

MS. DUFF:  I think this is a matter for argument.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  I think we're passing notes amongst ourselves just trying to address that, but I think if we could just move on.

And to the extent that you are relying on prior cases and citing those to the Board, please do that in your argument.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Just a second, Madam Chair.

I don't have any more questions, Madam, given your direction.  We can deal with it in argument.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Janigan?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  I am going to try to pick my way through the issues, many of which have been touched upon by my friends, hopefully not to deal with anything repetitive and to try to find some meat on these bones.

First of all, with respect to the customer count forecast.  As I understand it, there was a five-month linear trend observed in 2015, and it was applied to the forecast number for 2015 on a -- basically on recapitulating exactly the decrease that had been experienced in the first five months of 2015.  Am I correct on that?

MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, there wasn't a decrease.  There was an increase.  We decreased the forecast from 3 percent to 1.5.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  And I am working also off of Exhibit K2.1.  Perhaps that could be called up.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry, I've lost track, Mr. Janigan, I apologize --


MS. LEA:  Sorry, Exhibit K2.1.

MR. MONDROW:  Which is what?  The update?

MR. JANIGAN:  The load forecast summary of June 30th, 2015 that was prepared by Board Staff.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, when you made that adjustment, did you look at previous years' trends to see if the monthly rate of additions in the first five months is a good measure of the monthly additions for the entire year?

MR. MARTIN:  Actually, I did.  I looked at these a couple of different ways, and this version actually was representative or lined up with a couple of -- a couple of methods, or a couple of calculations.

MR. JANIGAN:  And it seemed to have some usefulness, in terms of projections of previous years.

MR. MARTIN:  It did.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, with respect to the rest of the years, you applied the same 3 percent growth rate, and that's reflected in this exhibit?

MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And this results in lower customer counts for all classes, with the exception of GS over 1,000?

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I wonder if you could turn up TC -- Exhibit TC -- technical conference -- 2.8, please.  And here you set out the data for the City of Oshawa's Residential Subdivision Development Activity, RSDA document, that was used to determine your 3 percent growth rate in the original application.

Now, your load forecast at the time of the technical conference reflected the data in the December 2014 column on page 2, did it not?

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Can you confirm that that forecast, based on your 3 percent growth rate, resulted in an average residential customer count in 2019 of 58,198, which is an increase of just under 8,000 over the 2014 actual residential customer count?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Looking at the numbers in front of us, we're looking at 6,000, and I'm not sure where you are getting the 58,000 from.

MR. JANIGAN:  That was the initial --


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  The initial filing?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Okay.

MR. JANIGAN:  I just wondered how you translated the values from this column into the customer count that you initially had.

MR. MARTIN:  So we took this information, as well as information that was published relative to population, et cetera, and we applied an element of judgment to come up with the 3 percent.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And was there -- was there any formula that was used?

MR. MARTIN:  No formula.

MR. JANIGAN:  As a result of that?  Did you have any -- when you say you used judgment, was the judgment reflected in percentages of certain statistics or...

MR. MARTIN:  I don't believe so.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, is there a more recent version of the City of Oshawa's residential subdivision development activity document that is available to you and that you used in preparing the June 2015 update?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We're expecting an update mid-year.  So we should have one -- they do it twice a year.

MR. JANIGAN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  So we should be expecting one sometime July/August that would reflect January to June update.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  In the event that that is obtained prior to the conclusion of argument in this case, could you undertake to file that?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Sorry, when would you like us to file it?

MR. JANIGAN:  When you get it, if it is before the conclusion of argument in this case.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Labricciosa, what is the "it"?  Can you describe what it looks like, please?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  It will be an update to this table based on data we've collected from the city regarding the planning documents that are reflected in this table.

So I would expect to add another column that would say June 2015 RSDA, with account of units that go into proposed site plan, approved site plan, registered permits, subtotal, and then number of connections.

MS. DUFF:  I have one question about that.  The two columns that are here already, though, they are not just taken directly from the third party.  There is some judgment applied.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  So it is not just a factual filing of an update from a third party?  There's some interpretation that Oshawa is providing here.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.  We have to do work to actually extract this information from the documents that are filed.

MR. JANIGAN:  And if you change your approach in any way, could you possibly note that on the undertaking, but if you're using the same approach, that would be fine.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes, it would be the same approach we would use.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  I haven't agreed.

MR. JANIGAN:  Oh...

MR. MONDROW:  I'm thinking of the timing, Madam Chair.

So the request is prior to the close of argument?  If there is an update, would we update this technical conference undertaking response?  Is that the request?

MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We don't have one as of today.  I don't suspect we will have one before, but inasmuch that one does come and we can put the time and effort against it, I guess best efforts, if I could use that term, if we do get a document.

MR. JANIGAN:  That would be fine.

MR. MONDROW:  So close of argument is the filing of our reply.  I am not sure what parties are going to do with it if it is filed, for example, after their argument.

I am loath to suggest that, or to concede to an undertaking that would then lead to another round of submissions.

MR. JANIGAN:  Would you suggest a date then which may be more commodious then, Mr. Mondrow?

MS. DUFF:  Well, all the other transcript undertakings are being filed by Wednesday.  That is your commitment.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, I am fine with Wednesday.

MS. DUFF:  No, I'm just reminding...

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry.  Yes, our commitment is to file the undertakings, responses, by Wednesday.  I suppose, Madam Chair, to be as fair as I can to Mr. Janigan, in light of my concern about another round of submissions, if the update is available prior to the date on which the intervenors file their arguments in the case, we would be prepared to provide an update to this transcript undertaking -- technical conference undertaking, if that is acceptable to the Panel and Mr. Janigan.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Lea, do you have any advice for the Panel?

MS. LEA:  Well, if it is going to be of use to the Board and Mr. Janigan to get that level of detail on that date, then that's fine, and I appreciate Mr. Mondrow's offer.

I don't think Board Staff would have much need of it, and since the other undertakings are to be filed on Wednesday, that's an alternate date for Mr. Mondrow to check if he has an update by.

I don't want to prevent my friend from getting what he needs.  I just want to make sure that it is needed and useful to the Board.

MS. DUFF:  Why don't we use the break and we will discuss it then, rather than taking another recess right now.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Please proceed, Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  But as of this juncture, the long-term outlook, I take it, is still the same for overall additions?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if I could turn you to the purchase power forecast model that was used in the June update.

And that's in the load forecast model run 4, purchase power model tab, or you can find it in the June update letter, pages 2 to 3.

Now, as I understand it, the purchase power forecast model has been estimated using a revised set of historical unemployment rates.  Is that correct?

MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I think in the June 23rd letter, you indicated that the updated unemployment data from the Conference Board of Canada as of June 16th was used in your revised load forecast.

MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And this is a new and more recent forecast by the Conference Board of Canada?

MR. MARTIN:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  What I am interested this is why the historical data used to estimate the model changed in this update.

MR. MARTIN:  I think we answered that on the first day or the second day.

MR. SAVAGE:  I think Mr. Janigan may have missed it.

MR. MARTIN:  Oh, I followed up with the Conference Board of Canada on that very point, as it seemed unusual to me.  And their answer to me was that biannually, they update their information based on Statistics Canada survey information and, on occasion, it does have the impact resetting historical numbers.

So he confirmed that in fact they did change, and gave me a general reason for it, and indicated that that was not unusual, that it doesn't happen every time, but it wasn't unusual.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So it was a change at the source.  You didn't elect the change?

MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I would like to deal with the CDM, revised CDM adjustment from your June 23rd update letter on page 3.

In the June update letter, Oshawa indicated that it had corrected CDM for 2019 savings from programs implemented in 2013.

However, it appears from inspecting the model that the correction was for 29 savings from programs implemented in 2014.  Is that simply a typo?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I want to refer to two pages that I provided to you that deal with CDM program impacts.

And I wonder if I could have marked as an exhibit, this two-pager?  At the top it has Oshawa PUC Networks’ June 23rd update at 2015-2019 CDM program impacts.  And the first number is the source, the updated chapter 2 appendices, the second is updated load forecast model run 4 CDM summary tab.

MS. LEA:  Is that something that you have provided to us in hard copy?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, I think you have one in front of you there.

MS. LEA:  Okay.

MR. MONDROW:  It will also be on the screen.  There we go.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  That will be Exhibit K3.3, please.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  Document entitled " Oshawa PUC Networks’ June 23rd update at 2015-2019 CDM program impacts."


MR. JANIGAN:  This exhibit compares Oshawa's current estimate of its 2015 to 2019 CDM program impacts, as filed on June 23rd in the chapter 2 appendices, tab 2-1, versus those used in the load forecast model, run 4, filed at the same time.

Am I correct that these two sources show significantly different patterns for future CDM savings from 2015-2019 programs?

MR. MARTIN:  So the first page, the appendix 2-1, that is a model that we received from the Board that was pre-populated actually for 2015, and we simply followed the underlying assumptions.

So in the case of the model that we had, it only included 2015.  We modified it, I believe, to include 2016 through 2019, and we simply followed the underlying assumptions, which was to take the target and divide it by five.

So we weren't aware -- we weren't aware that your -- so this is in relation to an interrogatory.  We weren't aware in the interrogatory that we were to line this up with the actual CDM plan, which is what you see on the second page.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I take it that the savings pattern used in the second page, that is what Oshawa is proposing for uses for purposes of this current application?

MR. MARTIN:  Yes.  So the June 23rd update includes the pacing and CDM savings that can be found in the plan that was submitted by Oshawa to the OEB.

MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if I could get an undertaking that sets out the 2015-2019 LRAM VA kilowatt-hour values for 2015-2019, which reflects the second table, the forecast program savings.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, to our knowledge we have not produced LRAM VA amounts.

MR. JANIGAN:  No kilowatt-hour values for that 2015-2019 period?

MR. MARTIN:  Not in the context of an LRAM VA, no.

MR. JANIGAN:  Is it possible for you to do so?

MR. MONDROW:  Well --


MR. JANIGAN:  I understand that these values are also needed as an input to any future LRAM VA calculation.

MR. MARTIN:  But --


MR. MONDROW:  I am not --


MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, let me just -- our understanding is -- so under the custom IR, we've actually got five test years here.

I think that would be relevant in the event that we had one test year, and then an IRM thereafter, because now you've got potentially CDM savings that occur kind of after the rebasing.

In this scenario, these CDM amounts are actually, in fact, baked into the rates.

So my assumption there is that there would not be any LRAM VA resulting from this particular type of rate design.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I will move on.

Now, I believe Mr. Aiken may have dealt with this particular issue, but I'm afraid my laptop screen died this morning before I had a chance to check that part of the transcript.

This deals with the other revenue forecast that was provided in the June 23rd update.  And we note that it is lower than the previous forecast provided by Ottawa -- sorry, Oshawa, and the other revenues have decreased slightly in your June 23rd update.  And specifically, those related to the specific service charges, late-payment charges, and SSS admin fees.

Would I be correct in assuming that these reductions are a direct result of your reduced customer-count forecast?

MR. SAVAGE:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Janigan, could I just ask a question just following up from that LRAM VA question?

MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.

MS. DUFF:  I'm sorry to interrupt you.  I just want to confirm, I just pulled up the documents themselves.

Are there any balances as at, I guess, December 31st, 2014 in that LRAM VA account that you are looking for disposition of?

MR. SAVAGE:  No.

MS. DUFF:  Because I don't see the balances here.

MR. SAVAGE:  We don't have any LRAM VA balance whatsoever.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you for confirming that.  Sorry to interrupt.

MR. JANIGAN:  No, that's fine.  I have another compendium which might be useful to have it marked this time.

MS. LEA:  Yes.  That would be Exhibit 3.4, K3.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.4:  Panel 3 Cross-Examination Compendium For VECC


MS. LEA:  It is labelled "compendium".  Just to distinguish it, does it have panel 3?  So this is a compendium for panel 3 specifically.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Do we have copies of that?

MS. DUFF:  It was here this morning.

MS. LEA:  Yeah.  It has been distributed.

MR. JANIGAN:  It should be there.

MS. SPOEL:  I am sure it is.  Oh, yes, I have it.  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  It's just an accumulation of paper for all of us.

MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  Now, I am going to touch briefly on the FTE issue, without trying to figure out why the Oshawa linemen are still on the line.

So I wonder if you could look at, on page 4 of my compendium, it's an excerpt from 4-SEC-32.  And that I can see at the end of the rate period you expect to have an FTE complement of 81, up from 74, which is what you had in 2012 and 2014.  Is that correct?

MR. SAVAGE:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And as I understand it, that during that period of time, during the period of the IRM, your FTEs will go up as high as 85.

MR. SAVAGE:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And would I be correct to say that those four FTEs that go between 85 and 81, or 81 and 85, are related to temporary increases due to expected retirements?

MR. SAVAGE:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And so that the incremental increase in FTEs not related to retirements is seven?

MR. SAVAGE:  As compared to the 2014 FTE, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Do you have -- and I recognize or recall the dialogue that you've had with some of my friends in relation to this, but is it possible for you to break down which of those seven is due -- are due to customer growth and which are due to some other factor?

MR. MONDROW:  I think we have had that full discussion already today.

MR. JANIGAN:  We did.  I don't think it was directed with respect to that particular number, seven.

MR. MARTIN:  So there is one that would be partially attributed to customer growth.

MR. JANIGAN:  And that's it?

MR. MARTIN:  That's it.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I guess I have a difficult time squaring that with the document that was provided from Dr. Lowry and the PEG organization associated with increases in customer costs and using the customer counts and growth as an important component.

Can you help me there?  Or am I being too obtuse?

MR. MARTIN:  I can't.  I can't.  I'm not sure that -- well, sorry.  Maybe if I could take a stab at that.

So the PEG report, certainly there's customer count or customer growth, along with other inputs, kilometre of line, load, et cetera, do in fact contribute significantly in the expected cost of the utility.

And so in our case there is an increase to the cost, but in our case we are really back-filling gaps in our operation that are in relation to things that are other than customer counts or customer growth, but we believe that we've got sufficient resources in place to take up the positions that would otherwise be required for the customer growth component.

And I did use an analogy, or at least a metric, in the application whereby, using a -- using a customer per FTE metric, for example, if I were to apply that -- if I were to project the same customer count going out into the future, customer per FTE count, that would produce an expected increase of six more, actually, FTEs than what we currently are providing.

So on the FTE point, I think it is important to remember that 2014 is really not -- is not really the right starting point.

So we had turnover, et cetera, that took -- that we took into account.  We did end the year in 2014 with vacancies still, but with 78 employees.

So if you start with 78, then the increase from '14 to 2019 is 81 -- is three, sorry, to 81.

So the increase in FTE count actually took place in 2014.  It just doesn't project in cost and in the FTE calculation until '15.

MR. JANIGAN:  Just going back to one of the first things you said.  First was, there were two particular reasons that you said.  One is backfilling, which is what I guess -- what you've mentioned in terms of, that there are vacancies that were existing at the time of 2014 that you were backfilling through, or intend to backfill during the course of the rate plan.

Secondly, you said that it was the capacity of the organization itself, I guess, to absorb growth, without adding FTEs.  Was that...

MR. MARTIN:  So there are a couple of examples.  But they don't -- they don't really -- so from an FTE point of view it does come out.

So in terms of backfilling, for example, we still have a position, a PME, that is close to being hired, which is a position that -- whereby there is an individual left in late October.

In 2014 we did backfill some certain positions for people who had left either early in 2014 or late in 2013.

Going forward through the plan, in terms of head count, so it's a bit difficult to talk about FTEs, because really the FTEs are resulting from other things other than hiring positions.  So as we mentioned earlier, if I recall correctly, we were hiring an asset manager, which is basically resulting -- is required in order to deal with the increased infrastructure and capital programs that we are putting in place.

We are hiring an IT position, which again is not related to customer growth.  However, it is related to support, et cetera, for systems that we have put in place.

We're hiring a design tech, again relative to the capital programs and the growth and infrastructure requirements, and we're hiring a customer service represent in 2016, and this is the one position that is being hired to a certain extent for actual customer growth.

So those are the additions that we're making in the plan.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if I could turn you to page 12 of my compendium?  This deals with the Hay Group study that is discussed in response to interrogatory -- the response to 4-SEC-33.

Can you tell me when you expect the result of this study?

MR. MARTIN:  I believe it is later this year.  The end of the year is when I think we're expecting it.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And if you could turn the page to page 13 in response to 4-Energy Probe-44, you have shown a 2.25 percent forecast increase in compensation.

Why do you believe that is a reasonable assumption?

MR. SAVAGE:  The final year of our current agreement is 2017, and 2.25 percent is the rate for that year.  So that was the best estimate we could come up with for 2018 and 2019.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, I understand that you have used a two percent inflation assumption for your other OM&A costs.  Is that correct?

MR. SAVAGE:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And the IRM inflation rate would be about 1.55 percent?

MR. MARTIN:  In 2019, we've used PEG's numbers, which is 2.16, I believe.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  And in either case, the 2.25 percent is higher than both; correct?

MR. SAVAGE:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  In your rate plan, what incentives do you have to reduce your labour costs?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, I'm not sure I understand the question.

MR. JANIGAN:  Under your rate plan, what incentives does Oshawa have to reduce its labour costs?

MR. MARTIN:  I don't believe we have any.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn up page 17 of my compendium.  In response to 2-Energy Probe-6, it states that the current five year forecast includes $840,000 for emergency response expenditures.  This is about five percent higher than the previous four years.  Is there any particular reason for the higher forecast?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  When you look at the type of OM&A expenses we're experiencing in this category, there's a couple of moving parts that are sort of having an effect, a net effect on the entire amount.

On the upward pressure side in terms costs, there is the obvious inflationary side.  But there are two additional factors that are causing more pressure on increasing costs here.

One is the mix of events.  We are starting to see more events in the after-hours period.  We generally, we generally get -- about a little less than half historically have occurred after-hours, which are expensive for us in terms of calling in staff to do repairs.

We're seeing an increase, a shift to about two-thirds after-hours call-in for types of emergency repairs and reactor repairs.  So less during the lower cost period in time, and more in the after-period.

And it also may come about as a part of the second component that is having an effect here, which is the extreme weather component.

So what we're seeing is, when we get storms that blow through, the net effect is a higher recovery cost in dealing with the outage response and the repairs, simply because they're becoming more extreme to us -- so higher winds, more water damage, and that is putting pressure to drive these costs up.

What is causing a small offset or reduction is as we renew capital, as we renew the infrastructure and modernize it, storm harden it, and all of the terms used out there in terms of building a less -- a grid that is less susceptible to these types of events, we're expecting to see some mitigation of that.  But again, the net effect is an increase overall.

MR. JANIGAN:  What effect does the -- or has the 2013 ice storm had upon the calculation of these expenditures?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  It is an anomaly that was pulled out of equation.  So it is tracked separately and we -- we do not factor that in as a planned event, as having an effect on the numbers.

So it didn't get averaged-in, if that is the question.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Does the amount -- is this amount for emergency response different or the same as the amount of the $830,000 shown in appendix 2AA under the title "Reactive/Emergency Plant Replacement"?

MR. MARTIN:  I think that is it there -- oh, no, sorry -- yeah, there we go.

MR. JANIGAN:  appendix 2AA, right in the middle there.

MR. MARTIN:  So the last line --


MR. JANIGAN:  Right down below where the yellow is.

MS. SPOEL:  Can you zoom in?

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Janigan, would you be kind enough to restate or state your question again, please.

MR. JANIGAN:  We see reactive/emergency plant replacement.  Is that the same as the amount for emergency response?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  On page 18 of our compendium dealing with the School Energy Coalition interrogatory 2.0-18, there were two reasons why this amount would not be declined that you gave.

One was associated with the weather and weather conditions, and the second was with respect to peak load stress.

I thought part of the expected capital projects -- I thought the intent of part of the expected projects was to relieve peak load stress.

Why aren’t those type of projects leading to a decline in this kind of capital spending?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  There’s a couple of things happening here.  I know it is a simple one-liner that we put in there, but there’s actually two parts to this.

One is that we are driving the system harder and harder, in terms of closer and closer to its peak capacity.

And our original plan was to actually deal with that at this stage.  But we felt that the more complete plan is the investments that we had moved to the end year.  So there is a bit of a risk that we're taking here as we're driving the plant. So that is an elevated stress point.

The other is the neutral reactors that we had proposed to do in 2015 and 2016 is aimed at reducing the fault levels that the plant experiences.

So that is -- although it is we're calling it a load stress, it is really under faulted conditions.  And both of those components have the net effect on the equipment to stress it further, to the point where we would expect defective equipment failures to increase as a result of it.

MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you could turn up page 20?

MR. MARTIN:  Sorry, Mr. Janigan, can I interrupt for a second?  Mr. Savage indicated -- I may have misunderstood the question you had mentioned about whether we had incentives to reduce compensation costs.

MR. JANIGAN:  Labour costs.

MR. MARTIN:  Labour costs, and I wasn't relating it at the time to our efficiency carryover mechanism.  So to the extent -- to the extent we would be able to produce efficiencies, sustainable efficiencies out of that, then it would be applicable to that particular incentive mechanism, if that fits.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn up page 20 of my compendium.  And in response to 2-VECC-15 you have shown that the cause of outages for the period -- you have shown the cause of outages for the period 2012 to 2014, it shows that in that period 33 percent of the outages were caused by defective equipment.

Can you tell us what is Oshawa's projection for this same pie chart for the period of 2015 through 2019?  Do you still expect to have 33 percent of your outages caused by defective equipment, and are you still continuing to project 5 percent of outages to scheduled outages?

What I'm asking is what part of the system reliability will the capital program affect.


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  The 2015 numbers, as they're shaping up-to-date, 67 percent of our issues are defective equipment, and the four interference component is shrinking, or has shrunk, although it is -- it has shrunk up to '14, but growing -- but again, a bit of a reversing trend coming into play.

I would suspect the unknown causes are coming down as we do a deeper dive into root causing of failures.

MR. JANIGAN:  And your animal contact and tree contact program, they expect to be -- reduce the --


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I believe so.  I mean, I would say at this stage right now I know that defective equipment is 67 percent of our problem, and so that speaks to the capital program, the renewal part of the capital program, and I would say that ratio comes around as a result of shrinkage in some of those other areas that I just highlighted.

MR. JANIGAN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Sorry, I would expect that trend to continue until such time that we put enough renewal in that, again, maybe a shifting trend as to overall pie reduction, maybe the same ratios, but an overall reduction in number of events.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, my friends have sort of asked this question in a variety of different ways.  But if the customer addition projections that you have made do not materialize, what are the likely consequences to this -- to your plan?

MR. MONDROW:  I'm sorry, to the?

MR. JANIGAN:  To your plan.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  From sort of a high-level cut, we've been fairly clear that the TS investment and the MS, the new MS9 investment, are necessary, and those are significant chunks of investments.

The renewal side is not driven by customer additions but, in fact, driven by just plant condition, and the only remaining pieces are the connection costs and the metering costs, as Mr. Martin has indicated.

So inasmuch as the number of new customers do not materialize, I would suspect those two categories might have a drop, and I wouldn't say it would be linear.  Perhaps meters would be.  Fewer customers mean fewer meters, I would suspect.  So it would be a direct correlation there.

But connection costs, depending on what type of development moves forward, may not change linearly.

MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if I could ask you to turn to tab 7, which is -- deals with the outage management system.  And on page 24 you will see that it's highlighted.

Your investment in the outage management system is $925,000; is that correct?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I understand that there is a hardware and a software component to this system.  What are the consulting and other costs?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  The consulting costs, we were talking about that as putting together an RFP, putting together a plan, helping to nail down the interface costs and what is required to interface to the GIS system, the smart meter system, and the SCADA system, which are all sort of data points that feed into OMS.

MR. JANIGAN:  And on page 30 of my compendium it shows that you expect 2.165 million in benefits from this program.

Now, can you explain to me how that number was calculated?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We did file the study.  I guess subject to check, in terms of reading the components and the benefits of the study, the OMS system was aimed at trying to pinpoint -- well, A), to provide better feedback to customers who wanted to know the status of their outages from how we presented outages to the customers.  So there is an inherent benefit to customers in terms of avoided calls, repeated calls, coming through from the call handling process, if we can actually provide that information to the customer in a timely way and an accurate way.

In terms of accurate location of the faults, the idea was -- avoided either multiple truck rollouts and/or delayed rollouts and sort of dealing with root causes in a much quicker way so that we're avoiding waste in terms of how we respond to the call.  So that is factored into it as well.

And in terms of, again, prioritization when you have multiple events, again, it deals with the efficiency of dispatch and the types of problems, so that you bring the right equipment and reduce the number of multiple trips to bring back, you know, other equipment that is necessary and/or other follow-up work.

MR. JANIGAN:  I take it that this program should translate to changes in your reliable statistics?  For example, if you have this outage system, it should release -- it should reduce the duration of outages, you know, the SAIFI metric?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  It does a little bit of both.  Again, OMS is more of the analytical engine around determining where the problem and what type of problem and where the problem is, but in combination with the SCADA side and the automated switching.

If the automated switching is fast enough, the way the SAIFI rules are described, it is a minute or more outage.  So if you do the automated switching in less than a minute it doesn't really count towards a SAIFI or it mitigates a level of SAIFI.  It does not eliminate it.

So inasmuch that SAIFI will improve with some of this investment, I think there is a small piece to that, but you are correct, it is the SAIDI that is more or less the target improvement for reliability.

MR. JANIGAN:  And how are you proposing to track to see if the -- you actually get 2.1 million in benefits from this program?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  That is a good question.  I think at the end of the day it is driven -- that savings estimate is driven by other people's experiences.

It's difficult to quantify specifically whether we will achieve that or not, in terms of our own particular experiences, and I say that because it's trying to measure something that didn't happen and trying to figure out, okay, if we didn't have this, what would have -- the expectation have been.

My sense, in trying to calibrate that, would be, you know, the average response time.  So in essence, if you've reduced it by 20 or 30 minutes you can assume that's all productivity improvement, and so labour costs associated with that wasted time is a direct savings.

Whether it actually adds up to 2.1 million, I would say it's probably difficult to tell at this stage, but we would hope to be able to quantify that in a reasonable way.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Thank you, Panel, for your patience.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Well, I think the Panel will take the break from -- the afternoon break now, and then we will proceed with the Panel's questions after that.

It is --


MR. MONDROW:  Before you rise, Madam Chair, if I could -- and I apologize, I should have been thinking about this more sharply and clearly when we had the discussion, but there was a discussion about Mr. Janigan's request for updated material in respect of the customer connections in the final TC2.8, page 2, the table there.  We were having an exchange about a date for filing that.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And I offered quite late in the process.  My concern, which I raised, was, you know, new material being introduced during argument and how are the various parties to deal with that.

So I am not recanting on certainly my willingness to provide it as late as the filing of intervenor argument, but with a caveat, which will influence perhaps your discussions during the break, and the caveat would be that if there is any explanation required in respect of those numbers we would want to provide that as well.

Now, that in itself opens up an evidentiary issue.  So the alternative suggestion, I think, which was provided from a couple of quarters was to, if there is an update prior to the filing of our undertaking responses next Wednesday, which is followed by an opportunity to ask questions, that would neatly close off the record, and it seems to me that would be from a procedural perspective a better approach.  But we're in your hands.

MS. DUFF:  The Board is aware of the dates.  Thank you.

We will break for 15 minutes and return at 3:40, I have been told.
--- Recess taken at 3:24 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:45 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Okay, thank you, everyone.  The Panel has a few questions for panel number 3.  Mr. Elsayed, do you want to proceed?
Questions by the Board:


DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.  Maybe I will start with a quick question about -- somebody mentioned the MEARIE study.  Does that only look at compensation, or does it look at OM&A, comparing different utilities?  Can you tell me what the scope of that MEARIE work?

MR. MARTIN:  In this case, my -- my understanding is I have never looked at the report; it’s our HR folks.

My understanding is that in this case, the section that we look at, it's a sort of general -- so they list positions and it is general sort of high-low salary ranges.

DR. ELSAYED:  It's compensation, not overall OM&A?

MR. MARTIN:  Not overall OM&A, no.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, okay.

MR. MARTIN:  I think there is a group of utilities that subscribe to some sort of a comprehensive OM&A, but we are not part of that group.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  On the capital side there was -- I think it was Mr. Rubenstein asking questions about the trend of when you start the project and you get into execution phase, and you find ways to find efficiencies and you typically have been able to execute it at a lower cost.

I am just wondering, when you are in the planning phase of a project and you develop an estimate, do you typically include a contingency of some sort in that estimate --


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We do.

DR. ELSAYED:  -- to allow for --


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  There was some evidence we filed around typical contingencies for overhead and underground; they're a little different.  Underground, you're more apt to feel the cost increases of the unknowns, the unforeseens.

Whereas overhead they're smaller.  I think it was 10 for overhead, and 15 to 20 for underground.

DR. ELSAYED:  So you just have a guideline with a certain percentage, as opposed to doing it through some sort of a risk assessment for each project?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes, I think this is a guideline.  It is not guaranteed as a straight 10 percent across all jobs.  There is some variation, depending on the complexity of the job and what is required.

DR. ELSAYED:  So that trend that was discussed earlier, do you think there is any link between your estimation of the level of contingency versus your ability to do it at a lower cost?

In other words, could your contingencies be overestimated?  I guess that’s my question.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I think we always challenge ourselves that we're not doing that.

As we go through our cycle of updating our estimating routines we will factor in, you know, the real world evidence, in terms of how we ended up to ensure that if it's a permanent savings, we're not throwing it back in as a potential savings in the future that we update our estimates and go forward.

You know, I did want to caution a little bit around that evidence, just to say the question was asked from the perspective of the ones that are lower, what could be driving that, and the answer was somewhat generic as to the things that could drive those costs down.

The last one was the scope has changed as well.  And I would say that is probably your biggest factor in a gap of being under-spent.

MR. MARTIN:  I can add a little bit, not to the technical side but just because I was around and participated in reviewing capital budgets and variances to the capital budgets over the recent years.

There is an element as well of transition.  So during the years we were building, we were expending $5 million a year, in that range.  We were building that -- that was predominantly self-constructed assets, and as the -- as the size and scope of the capital programs got larger, we then started to transition to having to a higher mix of contractor work versus our own work.

And early on, we were experiencing, you know, fairly decent savings over our plans relative to contracted work, and we believe it was predominantly because contractors were hungry and they wanted the work, et cetera.

Those costs on a project basis seemed to be keeping up over time, and we have also have the benefit of some hindsight now, in terms of which projects are contract and which projects aren't.  So there's been a bit of a transition there as well that's caused some of that historical gap as well.

DR. ELSAYED:  And to what extent do you think those savings could also be a result of experience from doing similar projects over and over?

MR. MARTIN:  That I can't really answer.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I think there is some of that in there.  I mean, I don't want to give the impression that we can actually isolate these variables and attribute numbers to it.

I think they're sort of baked in.  I think we rely heavily on, as we update our estimating routines, that they're all sort of captured in a new number that reflects the ups and downs.

In general, what we're seeing is the effect is sort of holding the inflationary aspects in check.

So the unit costing, if you get into a unit sort of comparison, would be very similar or marginally higher, but lower than the level of inflation.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  I guess my overriding question here is that you do consider all of these factors when you develop your cost estimates, to the extent that you do not necessarily overestimate it.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes, and we do, and we hope to have sort of enhanced our transparency by using these other benchmarked organizations.

And the first time we’ve done that, we did not give them access to our estimating routines and practices and numbers.  We just gave them the scoping documents that we used to inform our estimate, and had them prepare theirs.

In fact, they have come in either at, above or below, depending on which projects and which series of categories you are comparing.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  I have a couple of questions on your -- what you called the proposed distribution plan effectiveness metric.

Correct me if I'm wrong with the numbers; I wrote down some numbers here.  The two elements that you have selected as ones that cause some of your outages, did I hear correctly that those two only represent one million of your $25 million capital program?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes, Mr. Rubenstein asked about, you know, how much can we attribute -- out of the $25 million program, how much can we attribute to, you know, having an impact on those numbers.

You know, I sort of guessed at a million or two.  You know, thinking about that, I'm thinking, hey, that's the best kind of result you can get for that kind of improvement.  But I was isolating -- again, overhead plant is about half the cost.  Underground plant has no effect on those KPIs, so I think out of the 12-and-a-half that is in renewal, for overhead now it is ten persons of that spend.

So again, I sort of stood back and looked at the entire aggregate and it really only affects the overhead side of the equation, and that's about 10 to 15 percent of the costs.

DR. ELSAYED:  But if you are looking at the effectiveness of the Distribution System Plan which encompasses your whole program --


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Right.

DR. ELSAYED:  -- and again another number that I thought I heard was that I think you mentioned 67 percent of your outages are due to -- in the renewal part of your program, are due to defective equipment.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  So would it not be an appropriate measure of the effectiveness of your overall program to look at all of the outages, not just the ones that are caused by the two factors you mentioned, given they're only a very small, relatively small component?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  I think it is captured in two ways.  It is a very good comment and observation.

I think in the second series of measures where we use the Board reporting, I mean the SAIDI, SAIFI sort of factors, in our view, are the real ultimate measure of the entire system plan.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  But short of repeating that, we already submit that, we were encouraged to say, okay, is there something significant that you can identify as a result of some aspect of your plan that when you come back to report on you can say, okay, you know, in addition to these other elements we normally report on, these would have a significant difference.

And I would say, you know, we looked at a section that hived off -- how we pick those too is we said, okay, what are the things we continue to have problems with?  And can we bring it forward to say that we're going to address that?

And we have been to some extent with our previous investments, and we are not done with it.  So we are going to continue with that, and it just doesn't have to be -- it doesn't happen to be directed at specifically just replacing those elements as part of the overall improvement, which, I think it should be anyways.  If you're really looking at the worst performing assets, they're encompassed in that subset of causes as well.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Spoel?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.  I just have one question, and it arises in part because of, I guess, the fair amount of focus on the FTEs and employee counts and all of the rest of it.

I just wondered, given that some of your employees are working on capital and some are working on operations and there is an allocation of costs, I guess, between those two aspects of it, is there any -- so I guess my question comes down to, say, looking at the OM&A side of it, I presume there are times when the amount that you contract out of various types of work, whether it is your billing or other things like vegetation management or whatever, that those amounts might vary from year to year as well, depending on various factors, including whether or not you have a full complement of employees?

I'm not looking for quantification, just sort of generally, like, is there more to it perhaps than the number of FTEs.


MR. SAVAGE:  The billing piece, no.  That is fairly constant.  Things like vegetation management, we tend to sign contracts for three years at a time.

Other things, like, we have -- do some metering subcontracting.  That would tend to be variable.  I'm thinking in terms of also from the customer-service perspective, deliveries of notices, where we subcontract disconnects, that would be another example.  Those would be the areas that are variable.  But not hugely.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  All right.  I had a few questions.  The first is regarding the rate rider to smooth the impact of the, I think it is 1.5- to 2 million associated with the effective date for rates as you proposed.  So the period between January 1st and September 1st.

Your proposal is to smooth that over the remaining term of the custom IR; is that correct?

MR. MARTIN:  That's correct.

MS. DUFF:  Is it possible for you to quantify what the impact would be if that was done over a 12-month period instead?  I mean, just given the dollar amounts, and I don't know -- and how you have decided to allocate that among the different rate classes?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. DUFF:  For consistency I just realized I may have -- the 1.5- to 2 million estimate I think was dependent on a September 1 date.  Is that what you're -- does that complicate things at all, just any 12-month period?

MR. SAVAGE:  Either way, it wouldn't -- I couldn't do it right now this minute --


MS. DUFF:  Oh, no.

MR. SAVAGE:  -- off the top of my head, but certainly in an undertaking.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.  Sorry, I wasn't clear, yes.  I just wanted to know the impact.  So by rate class allocated and then on a per customer basis the increase, thank you.

MS. LEA:  So that would be Undertaking J3.4, please.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  TO PROVIDE BY RATE CLASS ALLOCATED AND THEN ON A PER CUSTOMER BASIS THE INCREASE.

MS. DUFF:  Because the billing determinants will change depending on the -- but let's just keep it at whatever your proposal is, your numbers of connections.

I want to talk about what happens at the end of 2019.  So we have this five-year period.  I don't know how often we're going to be checking in, whether it is annually, mid-year, whatever, there's a number of proposals, but one thing is for sure.  This period is going to end, and at that point we'll have another hearing with the Board.  It will be a full cost of service, potentially.

At that time the rate-base additions that you have made during the interim five-year period, I mean, really, there is a prudence review done at that point.  Is that your understanding?  What are you expecting would happen at the end of the five-year period?

MR. MONDROW:  I think the expectation, Madam Chair, is that the approved capital -- sorry, the capital investment plan arising from the Distribution System Plan, both of which are filed in this proceeding, will be approved, or the request is that they be approved, and those numbers would, by definition, through that approval be found to be prudent, and there would be no re-evaluation of the prudence of expenditures up to those levels.

MS. DUFF:  My last question is regarding the Enfield station.  Today or yesterday you filed -- it was an update to TC2.9.  It is the letter from Hydro One dated June 25th regarding the GTA east regional planning status.

This document provides, I guess, the rationale for the preferred solution.  What I am curious about is, how did you arrive at the 50 percent with Hydro One?  And what does that really entitle Oshawa to going forward and for how long?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  When we -- after going through the process and determining the capacity addition is coming from a new station, we then took a look at who would be supplied out of that station.  So we went beyond the period of five years and said, okay, where is the load growth coming from, and it is coming from north Oshawa in our case.

And there are no other transmission stations that would feed that area.  So that would come out of, ideally, Enfield, and that's how the allocation of -- that's how the supply -- that's where the supply is intended to feed, all the development north, is the only station in the area is Enfield.

So the amounts, then, are somewhat of a forecast as to what we expect, that over the next 25 years for that developable land, what would we expect the loads to come from, in terms of the size, and determining how to prorate that.

So the size of the station is typical -- a typical design for Hydro One, and it was determined that it should be a dozen type, which is consistent with their designs.  And again, keeping into account that the spares and consistency of the units of stations that are around there in terms of being able to interchange parts, it is sort of dictated, that size.  Then from there is to figure out, okay, what future loads over 25 years are going to appear in there, and it is pretty much the Clarington area and north Oshawa area.

MS. DUFF:  And of the different distributors that are in the GTA east region, Hydro One Distribution would be Veridian.  The 50 percent to Oshawa, how was that determined versus those relative parties?  Or do you partake in that conversation and determination?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We provide our estimates of what we think is going to happen, and it is factored in with the estimates in the area.  Hydro One does the work of collecting that.  We're there.  And there is some dialogue going back and forth, in terms of how we arrive at it and explain it.  And that factors into, again, the size of the station, as well as where the loads are going to be fed from.

MS. DUFF:  So the 50 percent number is Hydro One's number?  That they informed you?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  It is our contribution -- it is our contribution to their determination, correct.

MS. DUFF:  But from a cost causality perspective, Hydro One, in their planning, and in the regional planning for GTA east region, determined Oshawa has responsibility for 50 percent --


MR. LABRICCIOSA:  50 percent; that's correct.

MS. DUFF:  I'm trying to find the source of that determination.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  It comes from us, in terms of being what we expect our loads to be in that area.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Sorry, we provide our estimates.  So do the other utilities around the area.  They determine the geography that is intended to be supplied from that station, and again, it only happens to be sort of the Clarington-Oshawa area.  Clarington is a Veridian utility.  However, what feeds Clarington is actually Hydro One's territory.

So they determine how that's going to be split up.  But it's basically those two load areas that combine for --


MS. DUFF:  By contributing 50 percent of the aid in construction, that entitles Oshawa to 50 percent past 2019?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  To the extent you want to draw on that?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  My suspicions are that if -- it is an interesting question from the standpoint of what happens if one area grows faster and requires the load, and we've paid for half of it.

MS. DUFF:  Well, black market.

[Laughter]

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes.  I mean, that's a good question.  I don't know that we have an answer for it.

MS. DUFF:  I can't solve it here, but I was wondering about your understanding.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yeah.  My understanding is physical space allocation, in terms of use, is not -- you cannot lock it in.  So in other words, it goes to where it needs to go to.

Inasmuch that someone else requires more than their fair share, I would suspect we would have to have a mechanism to be kept whole from that equation.  So we would keep tabs of it, but to your point, Oshawa citizens could be, in essence, paying for another utility's capacity.

I am not sure how we would sort that out; I don't know.

MS. DUFF:  Any maintenance or ongoing repairs -- I don't know, the types of costs that would be ongoing -- are you also obliged to pay 50 percent of those to maintain your rate supply?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  No.  It would be, in our case, whatever -- we would own the equipment, the breakers, and that is our maintenance for that space.

Hydro One owns the TS, and whatever maintenance they have to complete for that station for the transformers going to the -- I would suspect into either their distribution rates, or transmission rates, either way.

MS. DUFF:  At that point, your obligation to any further contributions is non-existent?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Yes, non-existent.  We only take care of our own equipment.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you, those are my questions.

Any re-direct, Mr. Mondrow?

MR. MONDROW:  Just a few questions, Madam Chair.
Re-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Just on this last conversation, Mr. Labricciosa, you answered one of the Chair's questions by saying, "We provide our estimates."  Estimates of what?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Of our load, in terms of what we think the capacity that needs to be served would be.

MR. MONDROW:  And that's then used by Hydro One to do what?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  There's two aspects.  One is to determine how large a station it should be.  And so what informs -- what informs their decision on how big the station is are two things.

One, what do you expect it to serve within a planning horizon that is commensurate with the life cycle of the asset that's expect to be invested in.

The other is the typical design.  I mean, it doesn't lend itself to exact increments.  There are, you know, size categories that fit their standard profile.  There would be a small, medium, and large type design.  So I think this one fit into the medium design.

MR. MONDROW:  And they calculate a capital contribution, which you provide.  Is there a subsequent true-up of that contribution, do you know?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  A true-up in a sense of one the station is built?

MR. MONDROW:  No, in the sense of if five years down the line, more load comes along in another distribution territory.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  I would suspect we would go through that exercise and apportion costs.  So, for instance, if Clarington's load increases dramatically where they would require more than their allocated share, there would have to be a true-up mechanism in that horizon.

Where it gets complicated is twenty years down the road, and how to account for that.  I'm not really sure we have done anything like that, in my experience in the industry.

MR. MONDROW:  I will be retired, I hope.

[Laughter]

MR. MONDROW:  Twenty years from now, I hope.

There was a discussion with a couple of the examiners today -- I think of Mr. Labricciosa -- about doing upgrades related to plant relocation, so the OPUCN portion of the expense which isn't subject to a contribution from the customer.  There was a discussion about spare ductbanks; I think you might have used that term, or someone else used that term and you described a bit of that.

Can you tell us whether that sort of thing, putting in spare ductbanks for future use when you are rebuilding infrastructure to upgrade it because you are there at the time, despite the need that might come later, I think was the proposal put by some of my friends to you, whether that practice is usual or unusual in your experience.

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  Oh, no, it is very usual.  When you look at things like ductbanks, they've a hundred-year life, practically speaking; it is concrete, a concrete case.  The costs to come in later after all of the completed infrastructure is in place, roads and other elements are there, far exceed -- the restoration costs and the disruption costs far exceed the incremental cost to do it now.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  I just want to return for one moment to a discussion that you had a few times, including with Member Elsayed a minute ago.

And in respect of the metric, you spoke about a targeted program for these outage causes, which I think your evidence is concluded -- it was successfully concluded.  And then you referred to system renewal program in the context of further work on the equipment that gives rise to these outages, or the failure of which or the animal contact from which it gives rise to these outages.

Then you've been through a little bit more now the estimation, the 10 percent or 1/25th, whatever your starting point is.

What I'm -- what I want to ask you about is what the  -- depending on your starting point, if it is 25 million, you said 1/25th, and if it’s just the overhead portion, I think you said 10 percent.  What does that figure, the dollar figure, represent in respect of the equipment?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  In our renewal, what we expect to do is replace the porcelain switches with the polymer type.  Any insulators that are remaining that are porcelain on that rebuild would be replaced to polymer.

As we install new transformers, we would now put the insulated drop lead, an animal guard on the lightning arrester.  And of course, whatever we take down already has a cap on the high voltage bushing. So we would just replace that or reuse that.

Essentially, on the overhead jobs, we will now do this on all of the overhead jobs.  It is part of our standard package now.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Just two more, I think, quick ones.

At one point today, you said -- it might have been Mr. Martin or Mr. Savage, I'm not sure -- but that you've not budgeted for vacancies, or you don't have any plans for any unplanned vacancies.

Could you explain what budgeting for vacancies would entail?

Whoever answered that question, I'm sorry I forget who it was.  What does it mean to budget for a vacancy?

MR. MARTIN:  If you have consistent -- so if you can put a statistical number on, so in any given year, if your FTEs are 97 percent of your employment complement, then -- so in industries where jobs are fairly transient, for example, and you've got high turnover rates, then you would usually factor that into your budgeting process.

So you would build in, at any given point in time, to be 3 percent under your typical complement of employees.

MR. MONDROW:  And your evidence, I believe, is OPUCN has not done that?

MR. MARTIN:  We've not.

MR. MONDROW:  Why is that?

MR. MARTIN:  Well, we have years where -- we have had years historically where we don't have any turnover, and it's not -- we've not budgeted for it because there isn't any typical stream or statistical evidence to support a typical number.

It's been volatile for us since back in 2009.  For example, we had 20 percent turnover in one year.  From 2009 until -- I think we went two years where we didn't have any turnover.  So it is volatile and not -- we don't believe it practical to include it in a budgeting exercise.

MR. MONDROW:  One more question.  I think this is for you, Mr. Labricciosa.  You were asked earlier today if load growth were to slow, and therefore rates would go up -- and I think you agreed to that proposition, or someone did -- had you given any consideration to deferring your renewal projects.  And the answer was no.

What I would like to ask you in that respect is could you defer those renewal projects?

MR. LABRICCIOSA:  We don't think that's a wise thing to do, given the state of our assets and the condition.

The need for investment doesn't go away.  All you're doing is taking on higher risk and pushing the need to replace -- pushing more requirement for the need to replace in future years.

So it is just going to be that much more expensive in future years.  So it is kind of delaying the inevitable, I think in my mind is the way I would describe it.

That doesn't mean that you couldn't do it, in a sense that, you know, eventually you take the risk and be that as it may, and you will feel the effects, if the risk materializes in terms of emergency response, after-hours expenses to replace and restore the system, and disruptive service to customers.  I think that is the sort of offset if you make that decision.

But again, as an asset management person, I don't think it is wise to do that at this stage, given the information we have and what we filed, in terms of evidence to support the need for the investment.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, Panel members, thank you very much.  That concludes my redirect.
Procedural Matters:

MS. DUFF:  There are just a few procedural matters that we should discuss at this point, one that was left over from earlier this afternoon regarding the request of Mr. Janigan.  It is the Board's intention that after Thursday's proceeding on July 9th the evidentiary phase of this proceeding would be over and would close.

So to the extent that that information is available before the end of that day, it could be provided, but it is not after that date.

MS. LEA:  Madam Chair, I think we did not assign an undertaking number to that, so perhaps we should do that now.  So that would be Undertaking J3.5, and I have -- you know, due to aging assets I have forgotten exactly what was requested.  Could somebody please just say what that was again?

MR. MONDROW:  I think it was, as I certainly addressed it, was to update the table found at page 2 of the technical conference undertaking response 2.8 for more recent information from a report -- and I'm sorry, the name of the report escapes me -- if one is received prior to next Thursday.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5:  TO UPDATE THE TABLE FOUND AT PAGE 2 OF THE TECHNICAL CONFERENCE UNDERTAKING RESPONSE 2.8 FOR MORE RECENT INFORMATION FROM A REPORT IF ONE IS RECEIVED PRIOR TO NEXT THURSDAY.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  J3.5.

MR. MONDROW:  I think that's correct, through you, Madam Chair, Mr. Janigan?

MR. JANIGAN:  That's fine.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  The Board will recess for today and will reconvene at 10:30 on July the 9th, and that is under the presumption that the transcript undertakings have been filed the prior day, so at 10:30 we will reconvene this proceeding.

Thank you very much to the witnesses.  I am not too sure, the panel, that you are going to assemble on July 9th.

MR. MONDROW:  We will have a cutout where Mr. Martin is sitting, but the other two will be here in person.

[Laughter]

MR. MARTIN:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  He will be wearing a beret and holding a glass of wine or something like that.  It will be nine o'clock in the morning.

MS. DUFF:  I'm sure no one will notice.

All right.  Well, thank you very much, everyone.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:18 p.m.
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